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VIA Electronic Filing 
 
July 2, 2018 
 
Comment Intake 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street NW  
Washington, D.C. 20552 
 
Re:  Comments of the Consumer Relations Consortium Regarding the Bureau’s Guidance 
Materials and Request for Informal and Advisory Guidance 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
The Consumer Relations Consortium (“CRC”) submits this response to the request from the 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (“Bureau”) for comments regarding “the overall 
effectiveness and accessibility of its guidance materials and activities (including 
implementation support) to members of the general public, including regulated entities.” 
The Bureau is also considering whether it would be appropriate to make changes, 
consistent with law, to the formats, processes, and delivery methods for providing such 
guidance.   
 
As discussed below, in response to this request, CRC proposes that the Bureau consider 
offering such guidance by establishing a mechanism to issue informal and advisory 
direction in the form of letters and opinions. This would assist consumers and businesses 
in understanding the laws, rules and regulations governing the collections industry. It 
would protect consumers’ rights, ensure lawful business operations, and address 
ambiguities leading to frivolous litigation, thereby reducing burdens on our courts. 
 
The CRC was founded in 2013 in response to the release of the Larger Market Participant 
Rule for Debt Collectors. The CRC is comprised of about 60 organizations covering the 
ecosystem of collections, including creditors, large collection agencies and data/technology 
providers. We focus on two areas: advocacy and innovation.  
 
From an advocacy perspective, the CRC engages with regulators, consumer groups and 
other thought leaders to produce common sense, consumer-centric solutions to issues 
facing debt collection stakeholders. Our approach is to discuss practical solutions in a non-
public, candid, off-the-record environment where all parties can get well beyond talking 
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points. We established ourselves in both the consumer community and with the BCFP 
rulemaking body as a respected and productive group. 
 
The Bureau Must Consider Issuing Informal and Advisory Guidance  
Previous informal guidance or policy statements from federal regulators have provided 
guidance and certainty for consumers, debt collectors, regulators and the courts. Examples 
include: 
 

a. FTC letters 
i. letter of 6/23/09 advising that a debt collector does not violate §805(c) of the 
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) by communicating with the 
consumer in compliance with the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act 
(“FACTA”) after the consumer requested the debt collector to cease 
communication.  Ex. A. 
ii. letter of 10/5/07 concluding that notice from a debt collector that it will no 
longer seek to collect a debt because of the inability to verify is not a prohibited 
communication construed as an attempt to collect the debt under the FDCPA. Ex. 
B. 
iii. letter of 5/1/2000 concluding that the FDCPA applies to collection agency 
efforts to collect debt which is in default but not charged off, and that collection 
agency employees must collect in the agency’s name and not represent 
themselves as employees of the original creditor.  Ex. C. 
iv. letter of 4/30/99 addressing (1) specific questions about an account 
creditor’s or collection agency’s permissible purpose to access a consumer’s 
credit file under the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), as well as advising that 
(2) under the FCRA, an entity may not obtain consumer credit information from 
a credit reporting agency on behalf of another entity without disclosing the 
ultimate end-user of the credit information. Ex. D. 
v. letter of 3/22/99 addressing the applicability of the FCRA to the credit 
reporting of information by educational institutions in connection with defaulted 
student loans.  Ex. E. 
 

b. IRS letters 
i. letter of 10/7/05 addressing questions from an association whose debt 
purchasing members sought answers to nine categories of questions relating to 
reporting requirements under §6050P of the Internal Revenue Code for debts 
that are settled for an amount less than the full amount owed. (Please note A7: 
“A7. Section 6050P of the Code and the regulations do not require collection 
attorneys, collection agencies, or applicable entities to notify a debtor of the tax 
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consequences of a discharge of indebtedness resulting from a settlement at less 
than the full amount owed.”) Ex. F. 

 
c. The FTC’s Statement of Policy Regarding Communications in Connection 

with the Collection of Decedents’ Debts of 07/27/11 advising that a debt 
collector does not violate §805 of the FDCPA when communicating with 
individuals who have the authority to pay the outstanding bills of the decedents’ 
estates using estate assets.  
Ex. G 
 

These are a few of the recent examples of where informal and advisory guidance from a 
federal regulator successfully provided consumer protection and certainty for businesses. 
In the debt collection space, the Bureau could substantially increase its positive impact by 
issuing informal guidance and staff opinions rather than waiting for formal rulemaking to 
be completed.  
 
Rulemaking Cannot Effectively Address Rapidly Evolving Markets, Law and 
Technology 
 
The Bureau has engaged in rule making regarding debt collection for several years without 
issuing any rules. During the time the Bureau engaged in rule making, markets, law and 
technology evolved, giving rise to uncertainty for those who operate in the debt collection 
space.  Given the two to three-year minimum time frame for rule making, it is simply too 
slow a process to serve the Bureau’s constituency and provide consumer protection and 
certainty for industry.   
 
Enforcement Actions Provide Guidance, But Do Not Provide Enough Specific 
Direction 
 
Enforcement actions from the Bureau and the FTC provide a patchwork of inconsistent 
guidance. For instance, the 2012 consent decree that Asset Acceptance entered into with 
the FTC provided for a disclosure to be given to consumers when a debt collector is seeking 
payment on a debt that is beyond the statute of limitations (“the Consent Decree”). 
Unfortunately, the Consent Decree did not contemplate what type of disclosure should be 
given to advise the consumer that a partial payment would renew the statute of limitations 
(often called “retolling” language). Such a disclosure is required by numerous state laws, 
including California and New York. As a result, the effectiveness of the Consent Decree as 
guidance for debt collectors is limited.  However, an advisory opinion or informal guidance 
from the Bureau on retolling language could provide protection for consumers and 
certainty for debt collectors.    
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Bulletins are Helpful, But Still Not Enough 
 
The Bureau has provided effective guidance for the debt collection industry through 
bulletins, indicating its desire to provide guidance through informal means on important 
topics including Regulation E and credit bureau reporting. These bulletins provide clear 
direction for industry on practices that comply with the law. But, even they are not enough, 
as evidenced by the abundance of litigation filed to resolve “gray” areas of law. 
 
Federal Courts Are Clogged with FDCPA Cases - Courts Issuing Inconsistent Opinions 
 
The federal court system is swamped by FDCPA cases. Many of these cases are filed 
because of lack of clarity within a statute enacted almost 50 years ago. In 2017, there were 
almost 10,000 FDCPA cases filed (Source: www.webrecon.com). Many, if not most, of these 
cases involve issues of interpretation of the FDCPA. Most are brought by a handful of 
“consumer attorneys” who seek to exploit ambiguous and often immaterial areas of law to 
their own benefit, often without benefit to the consumers for whom the FDCPA was 
enacted to protect. This is burdensome for our court system, costly for all parties, and an 
ineffective way to receive guidance on the interstices of the legal framework of laws, rules 
and regulations which govern the debt collection space.  By issuing informal and advisory 
letters and opinions, the Bureau could more effectively and efficiently provide guidance on 
key issues identified as ambiguous and unclear by the very industry it governs.   
 
Consumers and the collection industry both need clarity from the CFPB regarding simple, 
clear disclosures. Federal courts are often tasked with interpreting debt collection 
disclosures in connection with FDCPA cases. Despite seemingly clear guidance from the 
plain language of the FDCPA and the courts, FDCPA lawsuits are filed every day against 
debt collectors using seemingly crystal clear disclosures.  
 
For example, in March 2016, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals issued its ruling in the 
Avila case, adopting a “safe harbor” disclosure regarding the accrual of interest, writing:  
 

We hold that a debt collector will not be subject to liability under Section 1692e for 
failing to disclose that the consumer's balance may increase due to interest and fees 
if the collection notice either accurately informs the consumer that the amount of 
the debt stated in the letter will increase over time, or clearly states that the holder 
of the debt will accept payment of the amount set forth in full satisfaction of the debt 
if payment is made by a specified date. Like the Miller court, we do not hold that a 
debt collector must use any particular disclaimer. Using the language set forth in 
Miller will qualify for safe-harbor treatment, as would the language suggested in 
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Jones, 755 F.Supp.2d at 397 n. 7, which may be preferable to the extent it advises the 
consumer of the specific rate of increase in the debt over time.[2] Moreover, a debt 
collector who is willing to accept a specified amount in full satisfaction of the debt if 
payment is made by a specific date could considerably simplify the consumer's 
understanding by so stating, while advising that the amount due would increase by 
the accrual of additional interest or fees if payment is not received by that date.  

 
It would seem likely that lawsuits regarding this issue would drop dramatically after the 
ruling in Avila because debt collectors changed their debt collection communications to 
incorporate the holding in this case. Quite to the contrary, lawsuits against debt collectors 
immediately skyrocketed after the Second Circuit Court of Appeals ruling in Avila, clogging 
the dockets with hundreds of cases claiming that the Avila case somehow requires a debt 
collector to disclose when interest is not accruing. The attached study of the dockets in 
New York Federal Court from April 2016 through April 2017 (Ex. I) demonstrates that 
there were 310 FDCPA cases filed citing to the interest disclosure issue, with 308 of those 
cases – most of them filed by just eight attorneys -- somehow asserting that a debt collector 
was required to disclose when interest was not accruing. In the 2018 Taylor decision, the 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals addressed and dismissed the “reverse-Avila” theory behind 
these hundreds of cases (siding with the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals which addressed 
the issue in 2004):  
 

Contrary to Taylor and Klein’s objection, our decision today reads Sections 1692e 
and 1692g in harmony. That is, if a collection notice correctly states a consumer’s 
balance without mentioning interest or fees, and no such interest or fees are 
accruing, then the notice will neither be misleading within the meaning of Section 
1692e, nor fail to state accurately the amount of the debt under Section 1692g. If 
instead the notice contains no mention of interest or fees, and they are accruing, 
then the notice will run afoul of the requirements of both Section 1692e and Section 
1692g.  
 

Unfortunately, it would be naïve to think that the Taylor decision will stem the tide of 
questionable FDCPA lawsuits. Undoubtedly, new theories on the interest disclosure will 
arise and consumers will be harmed by thinking that they somehow do not have to pay 
their just obligations because some there was some theoretical error in a communication 
they received. Only clear and concise disclosures promulgated by the CFPB can save 
consumers from this harm.  
 
The issue, unfortunately, is not isolated to interest disclosures. The following are additional 
types of cases which also present gray areas: 
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1. Cases asserting that the validation language in a collection communication, drawn 
verbatim from the statute, is unclear;  

2. Claims that the creditor is not clearly disclosed, when the name of the creditor is, for 
instance, American Express;  

3. Claims that a disclosure is misleading where it was stated that a creditor will not sue 
on a time barred debt because the disclosure does not say that the creditor “cannot” 
sue;  

4. Claims that a disclosure is misleading for stating that the creditor will not report a 
debt to the credit reporting agencies is false because the creditor could report it; 
and,  

5. Claims that there were too many required disclosures in a letter.  
 
These are exactly the types of issues that could be resolved through Bureau guidance; 
thereby eliminating hundreds, if not thousands, of lawsuits filed on the issues. 
 
Consumers and Financial Institutions Will Best be Served by the Bureau Exercising 
Its Authority to Issue Informal and Advisory Guidance 
 
We reemphasize our April 17, 2018 memo to Acting Director Mulvaney (Ex. H) that 
consumers, debt collectors, regulators and the courts would benefit from the issuance of 
informal and advisory guidance from the CFPB. An overhaul of debt collection rules is no 
easy feat. Even with comprehensive rulemaking, gaps and questions will arise and not solve 
challenges the industry and consumers experience. Informal guidance will reduce 
ambiguities in the law, provide certainty in the marketplace and maintain protection for 
consumers.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Stephanie Eidelman 
Executive Director 
Consumer Relations Consortium 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580

Office of the Secretary

June 23, 2009

Rozanne M. Anderson, Esq. Andrew M. Beato, Esq.
ACA International Stein, Mitchell & Mezines, LLP
4040 W. 70  Street 1100 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Suite 1100th

Minneapolis, MN  55345 Washington, DC  20036

Dear Ms. Anderson and Mr. Beato:

This responds to an issue raised in your comment filed on February 11, 2008, on behalf
of American Collectors Association International, with the Federal Trade Commission (“Com-
mission”) and other agencies charged by Congress in Section 312 of the FACT Act with writing
regulations relating to certain duties of furnishers of information to consumer reporting agencies
(“CRAs”).   On pages 7-8 of your comment, you urged the following action:

To avoid a statutory conflict between the FDCPA and FACT Act, the
regulation should clarify that the act of responding to a consumer dispute is not an
attempt to collect a debt under the FDCPA.  Further the regulation should clarify
that a consumer that sends a written dispute to a furnisher after having invoked
his or her cease communication rights under the FDCPA has revoked his or [her]
cease communication instruction for purposes of communicating with the
furnisher to process the dispute. (Emphasis yours)

The Commission is treating this portion of your comment as a request for an advisory
opinion interpreting the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) pursuant to Sections 1.1-
1.4 of its Rules of Practice.  16 C.F.R. §§ 1.1-1.4.   The subject matter of the request and
consequent publication of this Commission advice is in the public interest. 16 C.F.R. § 1.1(a)(2).
 Specifically, it is in the public interest for the Commission to clarify the intersection of the
FDCPA and this new rule implementing the FACT Act, thus encouraging debt collector
compliance with both laws.

The applicable provisions of the FDCPA and the furnisher disputes rule (Rule) are:

• Section 805(c) of the FDCPA provides that if a consumer has notified a debt collector in
writing that “the consumer wishes the debt collector to cease further communication with
the consumer, the debt collector shall not communicate with the consumer with respect to
such debt” (with some exceptions not applicable here).   

• The Rule requires furnishers of information to CRAs to report the results of a direct
dispute to the consumer, 16 CFR § 660.4(e)(3), or notify the consumer if the furnisher
determines the dispute is frivolous or irrelevant. 16 CFR § 660.4(f)(2).  



The potential conflict arises when a consumer orders a debt collector in writing to cease
communication, but at some future time submits a direct dispute about information the debt
collector has provided to a CRA.  The Rule requires the collector to notify the consumer either
of the results of the investigation or of its determination that the dispute is frivolous or irrelevant. 
Section 805(c) of the FDCPA, however, prohibits the collector from communicating with that
consumer with respect to the debt, which could be interpreted to include providing the notice
that the Rule requires.

The Commission does not believe that providing the notice the Rule requires undermines
the purpose of Section 805(c) of the FDCPA.  Section 805(c) empowers consumers to direct
collectors to cease contacting them to collect a debt so that consumers can be free of the burden
of being subject to unwanted communications.  In contrast, communications from debt collectors
which do nothing more than respond to disputes consumers themselves have raised do not
impose such a burden.  Rather, such communications benefit consumers through providing them
with information demonstrating that collectors have been responsive to their disputes.

After reviewing the language of the FDCPA and the Rule, and considering the goals of
the statute and the regulation, the Commission concludes that a debt collector does not violate
Section 805(c) of the FDCPA if the consumer directly disputes information after sending a
written “cease communication” to the collector, and the collector complies with the Rule by
means of a communication that has no purpose other than complying with the Rule by stating 
(1) the results of the investigation or (2) the collector’s belief that the communication is
frivolous or irrelevant. 

By direction of the Commission.

Donald S. Clark
Secretary



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580

Office of the Secretary

October 5, 2007

Andrew M. Beato, Esq.
Stein, Mitchell & Mezines, L.L.P.
1100 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C.  20036

Dear Mr. Beato:

This is in response to ACA International’s (“ACA’s”) request for a Commission advisory
opinion (“Request”) regarding whether the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”)
prohibits a debt collector from notifying a consumer who disputed a debt that the collector has
ceased its collection efforts.  ACA submitted the Request pursuant to Sections 1.1-1.4 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice, 16 C.F.R. §§ 1.1-1.4.  As explained more fully below, the
Commission concludes that a debt collector providing such a notice to a consumer would not
violate the FDCPA.

The Request focuses primarily on Section 809 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. 
Section 809(a) provides that, within five days after its initial communication with a consumer
about a debt, a debt collector must send the consumer a written notice.  Among other things, this
notice must state that “if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within [thirty days
after receipt of the notice] that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will
obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a copy of such
verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer by the debt collector.”  Section 809(b)
provides that if a consumer provides such a notice, the debt collector must cease collection until
it has obtained verification of the debt or a copy of the judgment and mailed it to the consumer.

In July 2007, ACA amended its Code of Ethics and Code of Operations (“Ethics Code”). 
If a debt collector receives a written request for verification and is unable to verify the debt, the
Ethics Code now requires “the cessation of all collection efforts, removal of the account from the
consumer’s credit report or reporting the account as disputed, and prompt notification of the
creditor or legal owner of the debt that collection activities have been terminated due to the
inability to provide verification information.”  Request at 3 (emphasis added).  ACA “also has
considered amending the Ethics Code to promote the notification of a consumer that collection
activity has been terminated if the debt collector is unable to verify the debt following the receipt
of a written request for verification.” Id. (emphasis added).  However, ACA has not yet amended
its Ethics Code to include such a provision because of “concern that communication with the
consumer following a request for verification might be construed as an attempt to collect, even
though the intention merely is to inform the consumer that there will no further collections.” Id.
at 2.
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1 Courts interpreting Section 809(b) have used the phrases “disputing the debt,”
“requesting verification,” and “requesting validation” interchangeably. See, e.g., Jang v. A.M.
Miller and Assocs., 122 F.3d 480, 482 (7th Cir. 1997) (collection agencies “ceased collection
activities immediately upon receiving the requests for validation, in compliance with [Section
809(b)]”); Wilhelm v. Credico Inc., 426 F. Supp. 2d 1030, 1036 (D.N.D. 2006) (debt collector’s
Section 809(b) obligations triggered “once a debt collector receives a request for verification”);
Sambor v. Omnia Credit Servs., Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1243 (D. Haw. 2002) (debt
collector’s Section 809(b) obligations triggered “[w]hen timely asked in writing to validate a
debt”); see also Clark’s Jewelers v. Humble, 823 P.2d 818, 821 (Kan. Ct. App. 1991) (a
consumer need not use the word “dispute” to trigger the debt collector’s obligation to cease
collection and provide verification of the debt, as long as the consumer’s notice makes clear that
the debt is contested).

2 The Request also raises the question whether a notice informing a consumer that
collection efforts have ceased “might be construed as a ‘communication’ in furtherance of
collecting the debt.”  Request at 5.  Regardless of whether such a notice is a “communication”
under 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2), a debt collector telling a consumer that debt collection has ceased is
not “in furtherance of collecting the debt.”

3 S. Rep. No. 95-382, at 4 (1977), reprinted in 1977 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1695, 1698.

We note first that courts have construed Section 809(b) as giving debt collectors two
options when they receive a written dispute or a request for verification1: (1) provide the
requested verification and continue collection activities, or (2) cease all collection activities.  If
the debt collector ceases collection, it is not required to provide verification. See, e.g., Guerrero
v. RJM Acquisitions LLC, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 20072, at *35-36 (9th Cir. Aug. 23, 2007);
Jang v. A.M. Miller & Assocs., 122 F.3d 480,483 (7th Cir. 1997); Wilhelm v. Credico Inc., 426 F.
Supp. 2d 1030, 1036 (D.N.D. 2006); Zaborac v. Phillips and Cohen Assocs, 330 F. Supp. 2d
962, 966 (N.D. Ill. 2004);  Sambor v. Omnia Credit Servs., Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1243 (D.
Haw. 2002).

The Request poses the question of whether a debt collector that discontinues debt
collection activities after receiving a written request for verification can inform the consumer that
it has done so without violating the FDCPA.  As noted above, Section 809(b) requires a debt
collector to cease collection of a debt until the collector has provided verification of the debt to
the consumer if the consumer, in writing within the thirty-day window, has either disputed the
debt or requested verification.  If a debt collector cannot provide such verification to the
consumer, merely informing the consumer that debt collection efforts have been terminated is not
an attempt to collect a debt and therefore does not violate the FDCPA.2

We note that Congress enacted Section 809 to “eliminate the recurring problem of debt
collectors dunning the wrong person or attempting to collect debts which the consumer has
already paid.”3  The provision allows a consumer who does not believe that he or she owes a debt
to require that the debt collector obtain and provide verification prior to contacting the consumer
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4 Even if, as the amended Ethics Code now requires, a debt collector that is unable
to provide verification of a debt ceases collection efforts, closes the account, and notifies  the
credit grantor, client, or owner of legal title to the debt that collection activities have been
terminated because the collector could not provide verification of the debt, the credit grantor,
client, or debt owner might choose to refer the account to a different debt collector.  Thus,
although the consumer will no longer be contacted by the first debt collector, he or she might
receive collection calls and letters from a different debt collector.

5 We note, however, that any such communication must not violate any other
FDCPA provision.

again.  The purpose of Section 809 therefore is to stop further calls and letters from collectors
unless the consumer incurred and continues to owe the debt.  Interpreting Section 809 as
allowing debt collectors to notify consumers that they have ceased collection efforts, without
conveying any other message, is consistent with this purpose.  A consumer receiving such a
notice would benefit both from having the calls and letters from that collector stop and from
knowing that the collector will not renew its collection efforts.4

The only other FDCPA provision that could be implicated by the notification that ACA
proposes to require of its members is Section 805(c).  That provision provides that, if a consumer
notifies a debt collector in writing that he or she “refuses to pay a debt or . . . wishes the debt
collector to cease further communication,” the debt collector is not permitted to communicate
further with the consumer about the debt.  However, Section 805(c) includes an express
exception to its prohibition on communication that permits a debt collector to “advise the
consumer that the debt collector’s further efforts are being terminated.”  Thus, even if a
consumer demands in writing that a debt collector cease communicating about a debt, the debt
collector would not violate Section 805(c) if it notified the consumer that the collector’s
collection efforts have ceased.5

After reviewing the language of the FDCPA and its legislative history as well as
information contained in the Request, the Commission concludes that a debt collector does not
violate the FDCPA if, after receiving written notice of a dispute, it informs the consumer that it
has ceased collection efforts. 

By direction of the Commission.

Donald S. Clark
Secretary



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

 

 May 1, 2000  

Richard T. de Mayo, Esq. 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

TSYS Total Debt Management, Inc. 

P.O. Box 6700 

Norcross, Georgia 30091-6700  

Re: Section 803(6) of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act  

Dear Mr. de Mayo: 

This responds to your request for a staff opinion regarding the Fair Debt Collection Practices 

Act ("FDCPA"). You ask whether employees of a collection agency are covered by the FDCPA 

when they attempt to collect debts by contacting consumers under the following circumstances. 

The collection agency begins to collect the accounts when they are two, three, or four payments 

past due, but when the creditor has not yet charged the accounts off. The collection agency's 

employees ("agency employees") use the name of the creditor, rather than the name of the 

agency, when calling or writing to consumers about the accounts. The agency employees are 

located at the office of the agency, and the agency controls the practices and procedures that the 

agency's employees follow in collecting the accounts. You ask whether the FDCPA covers such 

agency employees (a) when the accounts being collected are "delinquent and not considered in 

default" by the creditor and (b) when the accounts "are considered in default by the creditor." 

Generally, the FDCPA applies only to "debt collectors." The core portion of the FDCPA's 

Section 803(6), 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6), defines "debt collector" as "any person who uses any 

instrumentality of interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of 

which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or 

indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another." (Emphasis added.) A 

person is a "debt collector" if he meets either of these two prongs. The agency employees 

described in your letter meet both. They have as their principal purpose the collection of debts 

and they "regularly collect[] or attempt[] to collect . . . debts owed . . . or asserted to be owed . . . 

another." Thus, unless they are exempt from the definition of "debt collector" under a different 

portion of Section 803(6), they are "debt collectors" and must comply with the entire FDCPA. 

 

The other exemptions from the definition of "debt collector" are assembled in Sections 

803(6)(A)-(F). In determining whether the agency employees are exempt, we first look to 

Section 803(6)(F)(iii), which excludes any person collecting or attempting to collect any debt 

owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another to the extent such activity . . . (iii) concerns a 

debt which was not in default at the time it was obtained by such person. 



Thus, if the agency employees are collecting debts that were not "in default" when the agency 

for which they work obtained them, they are not "debt collectors." The FDCPA does not define 

the term "default." While an account may not go into default on the date the consumer misses the 

first payment, it is probably in default by the time the consumer falls two months behind in his 

monthly payments, based on the legislative history of Section 803(6)(F)(iii). The Senate Report 

on the bill that became the FDCPA makes clear that Congress intended the section to exempt 

"mortgage service companies and others who service outstanding debts for others, so long as the 

debts were not in default when taken for servicing." S. Rep. No. 382, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 7, 

reprinted in 1977 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News 1695, 1698. Thus, the exemption was aimed at 

entities such as mortgage servicers that obtain debts as soon as the debts are incurred and are 

primarily in the business of accepting timely payments from consumers. While some consumers 

whose accounts are obtained by these servicers eventually fail to make their regular payments, 

requiring the servicers to initiate collection procedures, collecting debts in default is not the 

servicers' primary function. 

Whether a creditor "consider[s] a debt in default" has no bearing on whether the debt is truly 

in default. Similarly, the date that the creditor charges off the debt does not affect the date the 

debt actually goes into default. Nothing in the FDCPA indicates that Congress intended a 

creditor's business decisions to determine whether a consumer benefits from the statute's 

protections. Thus, a collector cannot avoid the FDCPA's coverage by having its creditor/client 

wait until after accounts have been transferred to the collector before labeling the accounts "in 

default" or charging the accounts off. 

Because the accounts that the collection agency you describe obtains are "in default," the 

agency employees are not exempt under Section 803(6)(F)(iii). The employees will be "debt 

collectors" unless they fall within another exemption: Section 803(6)(A). That provision 

excludes from the definition of "debt collector" "any officer or employee of a creditor while, in 

the name of the creditor, collecting debts for such creditor." We stated in the Staff Commentary 

on the FDCPA, 53 Fed. Reg. 50,097 (1988) (available at 

www.ftc.gov/os/statutes/fdcpajump.htm), that this exemption "includes a collection agency 

employee who works for a creditor to collect in the creditor's name at the creditor's office under 

the creditor's supervision because he has become the de facto employee of the creditor." Id. at 

50,102, comment 803(6)-4(a). Accordingly, agency employees fall within this de facto employee 

exemption only if they both collect in the creditor's name and are supervised to a large extent by 

the creditor. Whether the creditor employees supervise agency employees sufficiently for the 

agency employees to be considered de facto employees will depend on the relevant facts. 

The agency employees you describe in your letter do collect in the name of their creditor 

clients, but they are not covered by the exemption because their collection practices and 

procedures are controlled entirely by the agency. The fact that the agency employees work on the 

agency's premises, however, would not have prevented them from meeting the Section 803(6)(A) 

exemption if they had been supervised sufficiently by creditor employees. Agency employees 

may work on the agency's premises and still be de facto employees, as long as creditor 

employees also work on the agency's premises and closely supervise the agency employees' 

http://www.ftc.gov/os/statutes/fdcpajump.htm


collection efforts. Again, whether that supervision is sufficient to comply with Section 803(6)(A) 

will depend on the facts. 

Finally, we note that, if the agency employees you describe are "debt collectors" under the 

above analysis, it appears that they and their collection agency would violate Section 807(14) of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(14), if they represent to consumers that they are employees of 

the consumers' creditors. Section 807(14) prohibits "debt collectors" from using "any business, 

company, or organization name other than the true name of the debt collector's business, 

company, or organization." If the agency is a "debt collector," it may not use the creditor's name 

when communicating with consumers from whom it is attempting to collect debts; it must use its 

own. 

I hope you find this information helpful. The views expressed in this letter represent an 

informal staff opinion and are not binding on the Commission. 

Sincerely, 

Thomas E. Kane 
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Advisory Opinion to Benner (04-30-99)
April 30, 1999

Mr. Kenneth J. Benner 
American Council on Consumer Awareness 
Post Office Box 17291 
St. Paul, Minnesota 55117

Re: Sections 604(a)(3), 607(e), and 609(a)(3) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act

Dear Mr. Benner:

This responds to your letters concerning whether the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") permits a party to obtain a credit report on a
consumer under certain circumstances. We list the three questions you posed verbatim, with our opinion following each.

1. How long after a consumer terminates an account does a previous credit card issuer or lender have access to the consumer's credit file?

Section 604(a)(3)(A) of the FCRA provides a consumer reporting agency ("CRA," usually a credit bureau) with a permissible purpose to
provide a report on a consumer to a person who "intends to use the information in connection with a credit transaction involving the
consumer on whom the information is to be furnished and involving the extension of credit to, or review or collection of an account of, the
consumer."(1) Once an account is closed because the consumer has paid the debt in full (and also, in the case of an open-end account
such as a credit card account, notified the creditor to close the account), it is our view that no permissible purpose exists for a CRA to
provide file information on a consumer to the creditor. Because there no longer exists any account to "review" and the consumer is not
applying for credit, the FCRA provides no permissible purpose for the creditor to receive a consumer report from a CRA. I enclose a recent
staff opinion letter (Gowen, 04/29/99) that discusses this issue in more detail.

2. Is a permissible purpose for obtaining consumer credit reports for the sole purpose of determining possible debt by a collection agency
for the purpose of soliciting collection business from creditors?

No. You report that a debt collector and a major credit bureau assert that the collector has a "legitimate business need" to obtain a random
selection of credit histories for the purpose of determining overdue accounts and then contacting the creditors on the account to solicit
collection business. Section 604(a)(3)(F)(ii) does provide a permissible purpose to a party that "has a legitimate business need for the
information to review an account to determine whether the consumer continues to meet the terms of the account." In our view, this section
authorizes a provider of an existing account (e.g., a bank that has established a checking account with the consumer) to obtain a report on
the individual. In the scenario you described, the debt collector has no "account" to "review" when it orders a credit report (in fact, no
"account" may exist for some consumers), but instead seeks to randomly examine credit files in order to solicit collection business from
creditors. The collector is not authorized to obtain (nor a CRA to furnish) a consumer report for that purpose. The entire focus of Section
604 is to protect the confidentiality of consumers' personal data in the files of CRAs, by restricting access to parties who have a specific
need for it.(2) If a third party such as a debt collector can review the consumer's file to see if there exists any account that the creditor has
reported as delinquent, the section has totally failed its goal.

3. Is it permissible for a business doing credit with a consumer to obtain credit information under false pretenses, i.e. hiring another firm to
solicit credit file information without disclosing the name of the party actually seeking the credit file information? In these cases the
consumer attempting to determine who has accessed his credit file, as required, is provided with names of parties unknown to him.

No. Section 607(e)(1)(A) provides that the second firm may "procure a consumer report for purposes of reselling the report (or any
information in the report)" only if it discloses "the identity of the end-user of the report (or information)" to the credit bureau. In our view, the
firm hired to procure credit file information would be required to comply with this provision. Section 609(a)(3) requires the credit bureau,
when responding to a consumer attempting to determine who has accessed his file, to identify the end-user -- not the intermediary -- as the
recipient of the report. Thus, the amended FCRA results in the consumer being provided with the parties who actually used his or her credit
file information.

https://www.ftc.gov/os/statutes/fcra/benner.shtm#N_1_
https://www.ftc.gov/os/statutes/fcra/benner.shtm#N_2_
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The opinions set forth in this informal staff letter are not binding on the Commission.

Sincerely yours,

Clarke W. Brinckerhoff

1. Section 604(a)(3)(F)(ii) provides a similar "review" purpose in connection with accounts (such as checking accounts) that do not involve
credit.

2. "The bill also seeks to prevent an undue invasion of the individual's right of privacy in the collection and dissemination of credit
information. ... (Section 604) requires that the information in a person's file be kept confidential and used only for legitimate business
transactions." S. Rept. 91-517, 91st Cong., 1st Sess. 1 (1969).
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Advisory Opinion to Harris (03-22-99)
March 22, 1999

Ms. Lee S. Harris 
Office of the General Counsel 
U. S. Department of Education 
600 Independence Avenue, SW 
Washington, DC 20202

Dear Ms. Harris:

This responds to your letter dated March 10, 1999, concerning the applicability of the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") to the reporting by
educational institutions of additional information to credit bureaus about defaulted student loans. You report that in some cases the new
information corrects a report that was erroneous (e.g., the loan was wrongly reported as delinquent, because a deferment authorized
delayed repayment), and in others the subsequent information updates a report that was accurate when it was made (e.g., the loan was
correctly reported as delinquent, but has subsequently been paid). Further, you report that in some cases "the school no longer has a
contractual relationship" with the credit bureau to which it reported the account originally. You ask if the school must report the updated
information to the original credit bureau, and if that agency is required to accept the data. Based on the facts presented in your letter, we
answer both questions affirmatively.

Section 623(a)(2) of the FCRA addresses the duty to correct and update information by "furnishers," or persons who furnish information to
consumer reporting agencies ("CRA") such as credit bureaus. In particular, this section requires a person that "has furnished to a consumer
reporting agency information that the person determines is not complete or accurate" to "promptly notify the consumer reporting agency of
that determination" and provide any information needed to make it complete and accurate.(1) Thus, on its face, this provision requires a
furnisher to provide corrected or updated information to the consumer reporting agency that it had reported to originally. A furnisher that
reports current information to a different CRA has done nothing to "correct and update information" with CRA that possess the information
that the furnisher has now determined is incomplete or erroneous. This duty extends to all student loan accounts reported to CRAs,
regardless of whether they were accurate at one point, because the section requires the furnisher both to "update" accounts as well as to
"correct" those that were erroneous when submitted to the CRA.

Section 607(b) of the FCRA requires CRAs to "follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of information" in their
consumer reports. It is our view that a CRA that refuses to accept updated and corrected information from a furnisher on student loan
accounts, if it still maintains that information in its database, does not have in place "reasonable procedures" to comply with this section
with respect to such accounts.

The opinions set forth in this informal staff letter are not binding on the Commission.

Yours truly,

David Medine

1. This duty applies only to a person that "regularly and in the ordinary course of business furnishes information to one or more consumer
reporting agencies."

 

https://www.ftc.gov/os/statutes/fcra/harris.shtm#N_1_
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Dear ------------------: 

This letter responds to your request for information dated May 18, 2005, regarding the 
requirements under section 6050P of the Internal Revenue Code (Code) for reporting 
cancellation of indebtedness.  Specifically, you request information concerning the 
reporting requirements under section 6050P(c)(2)(D) for organizations that purchase 
debt.   

You state that your association’s members are organizations that purchase debt for less 
than the face value of the debt.  You also state that these organizations generally 
pursue collection activity on purchased debts until the collection activity is either 
prohibited by law or the period for reporting the debt to a credit reporting agency 
expires.   

You state that an organization may purchase debt for a lump sum amount and may not 
know the breakdown of that amount into principal, interest, charges, and fees.  Often 
these debts are settled for an amount less than the full amount owed.  The typical 
settlement arrangement provides that the debtor will pay an amount equal to or 
approximating the principal balance due and that all interest, fees, and charges (to the 
extent these amounts can best be determined or estimated) will be discharged. 

You requested clarification on the section 6050P reporting rules in the form of published 
guidance or a private letter ruling.  The Internal Revenue Service (Service) has decided 
to address your inquiries in the form of an information letter rather than published 
guidance or a private letter ruling .  Before issuing the final regulations under section 
6050P(c)(2)(D) of the Code, the Service published a notice of proposed rulemaking in 
the Federal Register on June 13, 2002.  See 67 F.R. 40629.  The notice of proposed 
rulemaking contained a rule that, for purposes of section 6050P(c)(2)(D), “lending 
money” includes acquiring an indebtedness.  See section 1.6050P-2(e) of the proposed 
regulations.  The notice of proposed rulemaking provided the opportunity for public 
comment; the Service did not receive any comments from organizations that purchase 
debt on the rule in section 1.6050P-2(e) before issuing the final regulations.  The 
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Service is not in a position to address your concerns in published guidance at this time.  
In addition, your request does not meet the requirements of a private letter ruling 
request set forth in Rev. Proc. 2005-1, 2005-1 I.R.B. 1.   

Your inquiry poses several specific questions.  We have grouped the questions and 
answers into the following categories. 

Q1. Who is required to report a discharge of indebtedness under section 6050P of the 
Code and when does the requirement to report arise? 

A1. Section 6050P(a) of the Code provides that any applicable entity that discharges 
indebtedness of any person during a calendar year must file an information return 
reporting the discharge.  Section 6050P(b) provides that no information reporting is 
required under section 6050P(a) if the amount of the discharge is less than $600.  
Section 6050P(c)(2)(D) defines an “applicable entity” to include an organization with a 
significant trade or business of lending money.   

Section 1.6050P-2(a) of the Income Tax Regulations (regulations) provides that lending 
money is a significant trade or business if the organization lends money on a regular 
and continuous basis during the calendar year.  Section 1.6050P-2(e) provides that 
lending money includes acquiring an indebtedness.  An organization that purchases 
debt may be an organization with a significant trade or business of lending money for 
purposes of section 6050P(c)(2)(D) of the Code and the regulations.  The section 
6050P(c)(2)(D) reporting requirements apply to discharges of indebtedness that occur 
on or after January 1, 2005.  See section 1.6050P-2(i). 

The reporting requirements of section 6050P of the Code and the regulations apply on a 
calendar year basis.  Section 1.6050P-1 of the regulations provides that, upon the 
occurrence of an identifiable event during a calendar year, an applicable entity must 
report cancellation of indebtedness of $600 or more during the calendar year unless an 
exception to reporting applies.  Section 1.6050P-1(b)(2)(i) provides eight identifiable 
events that trigger reporting of cancellation of indebtedness.   

Q2. How does the 36-month non-payment testing period identifiable event apply to an 
organization that purchases debt, and how may the organization rebut the presumption 
that this identifiable event has occurred? 

A2. Section 1.6050P-1(b)(2)(i)(H) of the regulations provides a rebuttable presumption 
that an identifiable event has occurred during a calendar year if a creditor has not 
received a payment during a 36 month testing period ending at the close of the year.  In 
applying the non-payment testing period to an organization that purchases debt, on 
December 31 of each year, the organization must determine how long it has not 
received payment.  See section 1.6050P-1(b)(2)(iv).   

The section 6050P(c)(2)(D) reporting requirements apply to discharges of indebtedness 
that occur on or after January 1, 2005.  See section 1.6050P-2(i).  If the non-payment 
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testing period identifiable event, or any other identifiable event, occurred prior to the 
effective date of section 1.6050P-2, no reporting is required upon the occurrence of a 
subsequent identifiable event.  If, however, an identifiable event has not occurred before 
the effective date of section 1.6050P-2, an organization must determine if an identifiable 
event, including the non-payment testing period identifiable event, has occurred during 
2005 or during any subsequent year for purposes of section 6050P reporting. 

An organization can rebut the presumption that the non-payment testing period 
identifiable event occurred by engaging in significant, bona fide collection activity during 
the last 12 months that is more than nominal or ministerial.  See section 1.6050P-
1(b)(2)(iv) of the regulations.  This would require the organization to pursue collection 
activity beyond merely generating an automated mailing.  See section 1.6050P-
1(b)(2)(iv)(A).  The organization can also rebut the presumption if the facts and 
circumstances on January 31 of the following year indicate the debt has not been 
discharged.  See section 1.6050P-1(b)(2)(iv).  The facts and circumstances may include 
the existence of a lien relating to the debt.  See section 1.6050P-1(b)(2)(iv)(B).  

Q3. How should an organization that purchases debt report discharges of indebtedness 
if it does not know the breakdown of an amount owed into principal, interest, charges, 
and fees? 

A3. Section 1.6050P-1(c) of the regulations provides that an “indebtedness” means any 
amount owed and may include stated principal, fees, stated interest, penalties, 
administrative costs and fines.  However, a discharge of interest is not required to be 
reported (see section 1.6050P-1(d)(2)), and only discharges of stated principal are 
required to be reported in the case of a lending transaction (see section 1.6050P-
1(d)(3)).  

Section 1.6050P-1(a)(1) of the regulations  provides, in part, that an applicable entity 
must report the amount of the indebtedness discharged and any other information 
required by Form 1099-C, “Cancellation of Debt.”  The amount of the discharged debt is 
reported in Box 2.  Any amount of interest that is included in Box 2 is separately 
reported in Box 3.  Accordingly, to report properly, an applicable entity must separately 
report the amount of discharged interest in Box 3  if it included the discharged interest in 
the total amount reported in Box 2 .   

If an applicable entity does not know the breakdown of a purchased debt into principal, 
interest, charges, and fees, it should try to obtain this information so that it can 
determine the amount of interest and principal discharged.  If, however, the entity 
cannot obtain this information, the entity should report using the best available 
information.  See Q&A8 for discussion of waiver of penalties for failure to file correct 
information returns and furnish correct information statements.  
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Q4. If an organization that purchases debt discharges an amount owed that includes 
interest and principal, is the organization required to report only discharges of stated 
principal of $600 or more? 

A4. Section 6050P(b) of the Code provides that no information reporting is required 
under section 6050P(a) if the amount of the discharge is less than $600.  Section 
1.6050P-1(a)(1) of the regulations provides that, except as provided in section 1.6050P-
1(d), an applicable entity must report cancellation of indebtedness of $600 or more 
during a calendar year.  Section 1.6050P-1(c) defines indebtedness to mean any 
amount owed to an applicable entity, including stated principal, fees, stated interest, 
penalties, administrative costs, and fines.  Section 1.6050P-1(d)(3) provides that an 
applicable entity is not required to report amounts other than stated principal in lending 
transactions.  Section 1.6050P-2(e) provides that lending money includes acquiring an 
indebtedness. 
 
Although section 1.6050P-1(c) of the regulations provides a broad definition of what 
may constitute indebtedness for purposes of section 6050P of the Code, section 
1.6050P-1(d)(3) provides that an applicable entity is required to report only stated 
principal in lending transactions.  If an organization that purchases debt, which has a 
significant trade or business of lending money, discharges an amount owed that 
includes interest and principal, the organization is required to report only discharges of 
stated principal of $600 or more. 

Q5. Does filing a Form 1099-C upon the occurrence of an identifiable event prohibit 
future collection activity on the amount reported? 

A5. Section 1.6050P-1(a)(1) of the regulations provides that solely for purposes of the 
reporting requirements of section 6050P of the Code, a discharge of indebtedness is 
deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of an identifiable event whether or not 
there is an actual discharge of indebtedness.  Section 6050P and the regulations do not 
prohibit collection activity after a creditor reports by filing a Form 1099-C.   

Q6. Is an organization that is required to report under section 6050P of the Code also 
required to notify a debtor that it will report a discharge of indebtedness prior to filing  or 
that the discharge may be gross income? 

A6. Section 6050P of the Code and the regulations do not require an applicable entity to 
notify a debtor that it will report a discharge of indebtedness prior to filing the Form 
1099-C with the Service or that the discharge of indebtedness may be gross income.  
Section 6050P(d) provides, however, that an applicable entity required to file a return 
with the Service must also furnish a copy of the information return to the debtor.   

Q7. Does section 6050P of the Code require collection attorneys, collection agencies, or 
organizations that purchase debt to notify a debtor of the tax consequences of a 
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discharge of indebtedness resulting from a settlement at less than the full amount 
owed? 

A7. Section 6050P of the Code and the regulations do not require collection attorneys, 
collection agencies, or applicable entities to notify a debtor of the tax consequences of a 
discharge of indebtedness resulting from a settlement at less than the full amount owed.   

Q8. Does section 6050P of the Code or the regulations provide a safe harbor to protect 
a creditor who informs a debtor that it will report cancellation of indebtedness from 
inadvertent violations of the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, state consumer 
protection laws, the Federal Trade Commission Act, and state deceptive trade practices 
acts? 

A8. Section 6050P of the Code and the regulations do not provide a safe harbor to 
protect a creditor who informs a debtor that it will report cancellation of indebtedness 
from inadvertent violations of the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, state consumer 
protection laws, the Federal Trade Commission Act, and state deceptive trade practices 
acts.  How the information reporting requirements of section 6050P impact other 
Federal or state consumer laws is beyond the scope of regulations under section 
6050P.   

Q9. What penalties may the Service impose for failure to report under section 6050P of 
the Code, and are there circumstances in which the Service may waive the penalties? 

A9. Section 6721 of the Code provides a penalty for failure to file correct information 
returns with the Service.  The Service may impose the penalty for: (1) a failure to file an 
information return before the due date, or (2) a failure to include all of the information 
required to be shown on the return or the inclusion of incorrect information.  The penalty 
amount under section 6721 is generally $50 for each return with respect to which a 
failure occurs, not to exceed $250,000 per filer/per year.  There are exceptions to the 
penalty and limitations to the maximum penalty amount that may be imposed if the filer 
corrects the failure within a specified time period, if the filer's failures to include 
information are de minimis, or if the filer's gross receipts do not exceed certain amounts.  
See section 6721(b)-(d).  Section 6721(e) allows the Service to impose a higher penalty 
in the case of failures due to intentional disregard of filing requirements. 

Section 6722 of the Code provides a penalty for a failure to furnish correct information 
statements.  The Service may impose the penalty for: (1) failure to furnish an 
information statement on or before the due date, or (2) failure to include all of the 
information required to be shown on an information statement or the inclusion of 
incorrect information.  The penalty amount under section 6722 is $50 per failure, not to 
exceed $100,000 per filer/per year.  Section 6722(c) allows the Service to impose a 
higher penalty in the case of failures due to  intentional disregard. 
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Pursuant to section 6724 of the Code and the regulations, the Service may waive 
penalties under section 6721 and section 6722 if the filer can demonstrate that the 
failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.  A filer may obtain a waiver 
of the penalty if it can establish that either: (1)  there are significant mitigating factors 
with respect to the failure, as described in section 301.6724-1(b) of the Regulations on 
Procedure and Administration, or (2) the failure arose from events beyond the filer’s 
control, as described in section 301.6724-1(c).  In addition, the filer must demonstrate 
that it acted in a responsible manner, as described in section 301.6724-1(d), both 
before and after the failure occurred. 

This letter calls your attention to certain general principles of the law.  It is intended for 
informational purposes only and does not constitute a ruling.  See Section 2.04 of Rev. 
Proc. 2005-1, 2005-1 I.R.B. 1.  If you have any additional questions, please contact our 
office at --------------------. 
 
 

Sincerely yours, 
 
 
 
Donna Welch 
Senior Counsel, Administrative Provisions & 
Judicial Practice 
(Procedure & Administration) 
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April 17, 2018 

Acting Director Mick Mulvaney 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

1700 G St. NW 

Washington, D.C. 20552 

 

Acting Director Mulvaney, 

The Consumer Relations Consortium (CRC) was founded in 2013, in response to the release of the Larger 

Market Participant Rule for Debt Collectors. The CRC is comprised of more than 50 companies covering 

the ecosystem of collections, including creditors, large collection agencies and data/technology 

providers. We focus on two areas: advocacy and innovation. 

From an advocacy perspective, the CRC engages with regulators, consumer groups and other thought 

leaders to produce common sense, consumer-centric solutions to issues facing debt collection 

stakeholders. Our approach is to discuss practical solutions in a non-public, candid, off-the-record 

environment where all parties can get well beyond talking points. We established ourselves in both the 

consumer community and with the CFPB rulemaking body as a respected and productive group. 

As mentioned in our briefing sent to you January 24, 2018, CRC members would like you to know that 

they do want to see debt collection rules. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) has not been 

modernized since it was enacted by Congress in 1977. Instead, state regulators and courts have created 

a patchwork of conflicting precedents, resulting in an inefficient and confusing landscape for both 

consumers and businesses.   

Also, numerous innovations in communication technology that are embraced and expected throughout 

our society are passing this industry by because of the strict requirements of the FDCPA, which was 

written with the limited context of letters and telephone calls.  

This industry and consumers both need simple rules that allow communication in accordance with 

expressed preferences, and that help to eliminate outdated and conflicting areas in the law that have 

enabled a cottage industry of frivolous litigation. This submission is a follow up to our letter of January 

24, 2018, in which we offered these suggestions for clarifying the current law: 

1. Provide guidance for the use of modern communication channels to engage with consumers, 

and clarify the overly broad definition of “communication” with third parties 

2. Create a set of fair and balanced standard disclosures that are recognized and understood by all 

parties  

3. Establish a standard, limited-content message that can be left for a consumer without running 

afoul of conflicting rules 

4. Provide for a right to cure errors, consistent with other areas of the law  
5. Provide clarification related to the definition of “pre-default” and when the FDCPA applies 

 

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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In January we offered a brief background explanation for each of the ideas above. In this memo we offer 
specific suggestions.  
 
We look forward to the opportunity to discuss these suggestions with you and your team. 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
 
Stephanie Eidelman 
Executive Director, Consumer Relations Consortium 
  

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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1. Provide guidance for the use of modern communication channels, and clarify the definition of “third 

party disclosure 

Congress enacted the FDCPA at a time when nearly all communication was by telephone and U.S. postal 

mail. Over the past four decades, alternative communication channels have developed, including email, 

text messaging, web chats and more. These alternative communication channels are the preferred 

mechanisms of the vast majority of today’s consumers, who do not want to be called on the phone and 

will not open traditional mail. 

Unfortunately, the current statutory framework for third party debt collection lacks any clear guidance 

on the use of email, text messaging and other alternative communication channels. Additionally, a 

cottage industry of “consumer attorneys” has made a huge business of suing collection agencies for the 

most trifling and fanciful of claims, relying on inconsistent interpretations of an out-of-date statute. 

These attorneys are not helping clients that have truly been harmed; they are looking for quick and easy 

settlements from agencies that don’t want to (or can’t afford to) pay to defend frivolous cases. 

Given the lack of guidance and the risk of using consumer-preferred alternatives, consumers’ choices are 

largely ignored for fear of the legal repercussions that may result. Consider this example:  

A consumer has been interacting with her creditor via text and web chat, the means most 

convenient for her. The account is then sent to a collection agency and the consumer is told that 

she can only communicate via phone calls and letters. The consumer is frustrated. It is difficult 

to find a private place to have such a conversation, and waiting for letters in the mail only 

prolongs the situation.  

Since many consumers will not answer their phone (due to concerns about fraud, regulators and the 

media advise them not to answer a call from someone they don’t know) or respond to traditional mail, 

additional call attempts are made (which some view as harassment) and accounts which would 

otherwise be resolved are instead escalated, resulting in unnecessary credit reporting, garnishments, 

repossessions, and litigation. Courts throughout the country are swamped with collection litigation filed 

by companies because it is so difficult to communicate with consumers.   

Intertwined with the matter of honoring consumer preference regarding communication channels is the 

issue of “communication with third parties.” 15 USC 1692c (b) addresses this topic: 

Except as provided in section 1692b of this title, without the prior consent of the consumer 

given directly to the debt collector, or the express permission of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, or as reasonably necessary to effectuate a postjudgment judicial remedy, a debt 

collector may not communicate, in connection with the collection of any debt, with any person 

other than the consumer, his attorney, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by 

law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor, or the attorney of the debt collector. (emphasis 

added) 

The FDCPA says that collectors may not communicate about a debt with a third party, except in the 

limited circumstances outlined above. The CRC remains in agreement with the spirit of this requirement. 

What has become unworkable is the expansive definition of what is effectively inadvertent 

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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“communication” with third parties. Essentially, courts have defined the clause to mean potential 

communication, rather than actual communication. 

In years past this clause gave rise to volumes of litigation related to leaving voicemail messages, because 

standard voicemail technology required a consumer to listen to a recording in the open, where others 

might hear. And access to the voicemail was available simply at the click of a button on the machine.  

Today, these devices are in far fewer homes, and the vast majority of consumers have the ability to hear 

voicemail messages in private, with a password typically being required for access. Yet collection 

agencies are still reluctant to leave messages. In its Outline of Proposals released in conjunction with the 

Debt Collection SBREFA hearing, the CFPB suggested a fix to this situation by offering a limited content 

message that can safely be left and not be deemed a “communication” under the FDCPA. That’s helpful 

(indeed, section 3 of this document supports the proposal), but really the root of the problem is deeper. 

There are now parallels for this scenario in multiple other communication channels. For example: 

eMail 

Collectors must undergo contortions to use a decades-old ubiquitous communications “technology” 

called email. Because a neighbor might see the contents of an email? How… over my shoulder? Or my 

child might use a shared family email? Email accounts are free. Consumers can have as many as they 

wish. So why use a family email to open an account, or communicate with a healthcare provider? 

The accompanying presentation outlines the extensive process required today to make use of the eMail 

channel. It demonstrates that, in spite of being a well-established, ubiquitous, and generally free 

communication channel, collectors are effectively unable to use it to reach consumers; not so much 

because the regulations say they can’t, but because they don’t say they CAN, and therefore creditor 

clients in general will not allow it. 

Mobile phones 

The proliferation of illegal and unwanted robocalls has stirred a massive effort to put tools in between 

call originators and called parties. Dozens of applications have been developed with the goal of notifying 

a consumer who is calling, and WHY, in order to provide them with enough information to determine 

whether to answer a call (developers of these applications have become known as “analytics” 

companies). As consumers, we all love this. However, collections is the ONE INDUSTRY faced with a 

unique challenge in this new scenario. Should one of these applications disclose on a consumer’s mobile 

phone screen that a debt collector is calling, the debt collector (who has no idea how their calls are 

being labeled) would be open to litigation due to the potential for a third party disclosure. This is not 

unlike the potential for a voicemail to be heard by a roommate or family member.  

But the whole point of the technology – wanted by consumers and supported (in fact, encouraged) by 

the Federal Communications Commission -- is to give the consumer accurate information. This situation 

has caused the industry to come up with alternate terminology, “account servicing,” to suggest to 

application providers that vaguely – but accurately – describes the call.  It has been adopted so far by 

one analytics company, First Orion. 
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So, what happens when account servicing becomes synonymous with debt collection? Another term 

must be found? How long will it take for a clever consumer attorney to file a lawsuit against the 

application provider, the carrier, and the debt collector, saying “account servicing” misled their client 

into picking up a call from a debt collector? 

This is an endless loop of potential liability. The broad interpretation of this rule to mean the potential 

for third party disclosure rather than actual third party disclosure inconveniences the vast majority of 

consumers, who need the ability to communicate about debts in their preferred channel. The more 

barriers we put in front of this goal, the more we end up with debts on credit reports, debts turning into 

lawsuits, and debts getting re-placed with multiple collection agencies or sold because of an inability to 

communicate and resolve. 

The authentication dance 

The beginning of a collection call is incredibly uncomfortable. As we’ve noted above, collectors are 

required by law to confirm they are talking to the right consumer before they can reveal why they are 

calling. But the consumer has been trained to not trust a caller they don’t know, and certainly not to 

provide any personally identifying information. And… collectors are required by law to tell consumers 

why they are calling. So there is a stand-off, and a really awkward situation. 

One way to solve this is to make it easier for collectors to initiate communication with consumers 

through digital channels. This would make it possible for collectors to employ the dozens of more 

advanced ways to authenticate the consumer that are now available to banks and other financial 

institutions. This would greatly benefit the consumer by making the beginning of a collection 

communication far less awkward and frightening. 

For all of these reasons, the CRC suggests that it is time to revisit this overly broad definition of 

“communication” with a third party. 
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2. Create a set of fair and balanced standard disclosures 

The FDCPA requires that notices and disclosures be made to consumers about a range of topics but does 
not prescribe the language of those notices and disclosures. As a result, hundreds – if not thousands – of 
interpretations/variations of these notices have been created by attorneys and compliance officers 
nationwide. This resulted in consumer confusion over what they mean, and frivolous litigation over – 
literally -- the placement of commas and other technical grammatical or word choices that could be 
misconstrued.  

Consumers and the collection industry both need clarity from the CFPB regarding simple, clear 

disclosures.  Federal Courts are often tasked with interpreting debt collection disclosures in connection 

with FDCPA cases.  Despite seemingly clear guidance from the plain language of the FDCPA and the 

Courts, FDCPA lawsuits are filed every day against debt collectors using seemingly crystal clear 

disclosures.   

For example, in March 2016, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals issued its ruling in the Avila case, 

adopting a “safe harbor” disclosure regarding the accrual of interest, writing: 

We hold that a debt collector will not be subject to liability under Section 1692e for failing to 

disclose that the consumer's balance may increase due to interest and fees if the collection 

notice either accurately informs the consumer that the amount of the debt stated in the letter 

will increase over time, or clearly states that the holder of the debt will accept payment of the 

amount set forth in full satisfaction of the debt if payment is made by a specified date. Like the 

Miller court, we do not hold that a debt collector must use any particular disclaimer. Using the 

language set forth in Miller will qualify for safe-harbor treatment, as would the language 

suggested in Jones, 755 F.Supp.2d at 397 n. 7, which may be preferable to the extent it advises 

the consumer of the specific rate of increase in the debt over time.[2] Moreover, a debt 

collector who is willing to accept a specified amount in full satisfaction of the debt if payment is 

made by a specific date could considerably simplify the consumer's understanding by so stating, 

while advising that the amount due would increase by the accrual of additional interest or fees if 

payment is not received by that date. 

It would seem likely that lawsuits regarding this issue would drop dramatically after the ruling in Avila 

because debt collectors would change their debt collection communications to incorporate the holding 

in this case. Quite to the contrary, lawsuits against debt collectors immediately skyrocketed after the 

Second Circuit Court of Appeals ruling in Avila, clogging the dockets with hundreds of cases claiming that 

the Avila case somehow requires a debt collector to disclose when interest is not accruing.  The attached 

study of the dockets in New York Federal Court from April 2016 through April 2017 demonstrates that 

there were 310 FDCPA cases filed citing to the interest disclosure issue, with 308 of those cases – most 

of them filed by just eight attorneys -- somehow asserting that a debt collector was required to disclose 

when interest was not accruing.  In the 2018 Taylor decision, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 

addressed and dismissed the “reverse-Avila” theory behind these hundreds of cases (siding with the 

Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals which addressed the issue in 2004): 

Contrary to Taylor and Klein’s objection, our decision today reads Sections 1692e and 1692g in 

harmony. That is, if a collection notice correctly states a consumer’s balance without mentioning 

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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interest or fees, and no such interest or fees are accruing, then the notice will neither be 

misleading within the meaning of Section 1692e, nor fail to state accurately the amount of the 

debt under Section 1692g. If instead the notice contains no mention of interest or fees, and they 

are accruing, then the notice will run afoul of the requirements of both Section 1692e and 

Section 1692g. 

Unfortunately, it would be naïve to think that the Taylor decision will stem the tide of questionable 

FDCPA lawsuits.  Undoubtedly new theories on the interest disclosure will arise and consumers will be 

harmed by thinking that they somehow do not have to pay their just obligations because some there 

was some theoretical error in a communication they received.  Only clear and concise disclosures 

promulgated by the CFPB can save consumers from this harm. 

The issue, unfortunately, is not isolated to interest disclosures: 

1. Cases asserting that the validation language in a collection communication, drawn verbatim 
from the statute, is unclear; 

2. Claims that the creditor is not clearly disclosed, when the name of the creditor is, for instance, 
American Express; 

3. Claims that a disclosure is misleading where it was stated that a creditor will not sue on a time 
barred debt because the disclosure does not say that the creditor “cannot” sue; 

4. Claims that a disclosure is misleading for stating that the creditor will not report a debt to the 
credit reporting agencies is false because the creditor could report it; and, 

5. Claims that there were too many required disclosures in a letter. 

As such, the CRC suggests that a set of fair and balanced standard disclosures on the following topics 
would bring clarity for all involved, and could even contribute to defining the difference between a 
legitimate collector and a scammer: Validation notice, Credit reporting, Interest accruing, Tax 
consequences, Time barred debt,  

The following recommendations provide consumers with clear and easy-to-understand descriptions of 
their rights and important information about their accounts, while providing safe harbor for legitimate 
companies looking to comply with the law. 

Validation notice 

The FDCPA requires that collectors provide to consumers an initial disclosure, colloquially referred to as 
the “validation notice.” This is codified at 15 USC 1692(g) and requires that a collector advise the 
consumer of the following: 

a. the amount of the debt; 

b. the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; 

c. a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes 
the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by 
the debt collector; 

d. a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within the thirty-day 
period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain 
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verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a copy of such 
verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and 

e. a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the thirty-day period, 
the debt collector will provide the consumer with the name and address of the original 
creditor, if different from the current creditor. 

While it would seem there is nothing particularly difficult about placing such a notice on a letter, the 
statute does not prescribe any particular wording, so collection agencies fashion on their own a 
paragraph they believe covers all these points. This has resulted in substantial class action litigation. As 
such, the CRC proposes that the CFPB establish a standard validation notice that properly advises the 
consumer of their rights but is also sufficiently clear and easy to read so that the average consumer will 
understand it.  

Proposed standard disclosure: If you write to us within 30 days of receiving this letter to 
dispute all or part of this debt or to request the name and address of the original creditor (if 
different from the current creditor), then we will stop collecting until we send you our 
response. Unless you dispute all or part of the debt in writing within 30 days of receiving this 
letter, we will assume the debt is valid. If you tell us in writing that you want us to stop 
contacting you, we are required by law to do so, but this alone will not make the debt go 
away. 

Credit Reporting 

Debt collectors face issues when providing credit reporting disclosures to consumers. Agencies and their 
creditor clients want to provide consumers reasonable notice that an account will be reported if not 
resolved to allow the consumer adequate opportunity to pay or dispute the account as appropriate. 
However, consumer attorneys file lawsuits after disclosures are given when the agency or creditor later 
determines that the account will not be reported. Accounts are not reported for many reasons after the 
initial demand/credit reporting disclosure letter is sent -- for instance, because a consumer disputes or 
makes payments, or a client requests the account be closed.  

Due to the craftiness of the consumer bar, there is a very real risk of high volume litigation regarding any 

disclosure that discusses credit reporting since it is difficult to include all of the different situations that 

may impact whether or how an account appears on a consumer’s credit report.   

As a result, CRC makes two recommendations: 

 Debt collection agencies that cannot -- or choose not to -- credit report should not be required 

to provide any credit reporting disclosure.   

 Debt collectors that do choose to credit report, or are required by a creditor to do so in the 

collection agreement, also should not be required to include a disclosure.  However, for 

agencies that do credit report and do choose to include a disclosure, CRC recommends the 

following standard disclosure to be provided in the initial written communication with the 

consumer: 

Proposed standard disclosure: Adverse credit information is scheduled to be reported on or 

after [enter date after 30 day validation period]. 
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Interest Accruing 

Accounts in collection may or may not accrue interest. As highlighted in the discussion above, consumer 
attorneys file countless lawsuits against collection agencies based on their disclosures of accruing 
interest, or lack thereof. It is generally accepted that if interest is accruing on an account, that fact must 
be disclosed. However, consumer attorneys are now filing cases against agencies when there is no 
interest accruing, and the agency fails to disclose that fact. 

In line with the Second Circuit’s decisions regarding interest disclosure, debt collectors should inform 
consumers if their accounts are currently accruing interest1, but should not be required to disclose that 
an account balance is static while it remains with the debt collector2.  

For accounts that accrue interest, CRC recommends the following model disclosure: 

Proposed standard disclosure: The balance listed above is the total amount required to pay 
your obligation in full as of the date of this letter.  Because interest continues to accrue, the 
amount required as of a later date may be different. Contact us for the correct balance. 

For accounts that do not accrue interest, CRC recommends the CFPB issue specific guidance that the 
collection agency need not disclose that the account balance is static.  

Tax Consequences/ IRS Form 1099-C 

Debt collectors and creditors face challenges with 1099-C disclosures. Many creditors believe that a 
disclosure must be made to a consumer in cases when the consumer’s account is reduced/forgiven by 
$600 or more. Yet hundreds of lawsuits have been filed or threatened against collection agencies when 
making these disclosures. Case law is not consistent and has further clouded the situation. 

In line with the judicial decisions from many jurisdictions throughout the United States3, CRC 
recommends that the CFPB issue guidance that a collection agency is not required to provide a 
1099c/settlement tax consequences disclosure to a consumer.  However, if an agency chooses to 
include such a disclosure, then CRC recommends the following court-approved4 disclosure: 
 

Proposed standard disclosure: This settlement may have tax consequences.  Please consult 
your tax advisor. 
 

Time Barred Debt  

The calculation of when the statute of limitations runs and expires is not consistent from state to state, 
and among different types of debt. It is extremely confusing, even to sophisticated attorneys. While a 
handful of states prescribe a disclosure to notify the consumer that the statute of limitations expired on 
their account, the majority of states provide no clarity.  Additionally, in states that do not prescribe a 

                                                           
1 Avila v. Riexinger & Assoc., LLC, 817 F.3d 72 (2d Cir. 2016). 
2 Taylor v. Fin. Recovery Servs., Inc., 2018 WL 1526057 (2d Cir. 2018). 
3 3 See Ceban v. Capital Mgmt. Servs., L.P., 2018 WL 451637 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 17, 2018); Remington v. Fin. Recovery 
Servs, Inc., 2017 WL 1014994 (D. Conn. Mar. 15, 2017); Taylor v. Fin. Recovery Servs., Inc., 252 F.Supp.3d 344 
(S.D.N.Y. May 18, 2017); Rhein v. Forster, Garbus & Garbus, LLP, 2017 WL 4969335 (D.N.J. Nov. 1, 2017). 
4 See Ceban v. Capital Mgmt. Servs., L.P., 2018 WL 451637 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 17, 2018); Remington v. Fin. Recovery 
Servs, Inc., 2017 WL 1014994 (D. Conn. Mar. 15, 2017); Taylor v. Fin. Recovery Servs., Inc., 252 F.Supp.3d 344 
(S.D.N.Y. May 18, 2017); Rhein v. Forster, Garbus & Garbus, LLP, 2017 WL 4969335 (D.N.J. Nov. 1, 2017). 
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disclosure, the disclosures differ depending on whether or not the state recognizes that a payment or 
written acknowledgment of the debt restarts the statute of limitations.  

While some states have a required verbatim disclosure for collecting on time barred debts5, many states 
provide no guidance. To fill the gap for the states that do not have a verbatim disclosure requirement, 
CRC recommends the following two disclosures depending on whether or not the account is past the 
FCRA date of obsolescence.   
 
Accounts not past date of obsolescence: 
 

Proposed standard disclosure: The law limits how long you can be sued on a debt.  Because of 
the age of your debt, you cannot be sued for it.  If you do not pay the debt, it may [continue 
to] be reported to any credit reporting agency.  In some states, making a payment or a 
promise to pay could restart the statute of limitations. Please ask a lawyer if you have any 
questions. 

 
Accounts past the date of obsolescence: 
 

Proposed standard disclosure: The law limits how long you can be sued on a debt.  Because of 
the age of your debt, you cannot be sued for it and it cannot be reported to any credit 
reporting agency.  In some states, making a payment or a promise to pay could restart the 
statute of limitations.  

 
Collection Costs 

For certain accounts, the creditor may be entitled to collection costs per the credit agreement with the 
consumer or where permitted by law.  Where collection costs are to be collected, the Northern District 
of Illinois reasoned that it is better for a debt collector to set forth the collection costs in the letter to 
consumers and collect that amount in whole, rather than collecting the balance and then coming back 
after payment to collect the collection costs6.   

CRC agrees with the Norther District of Illinois’s reasoning, which is in line with the 2nd Circuit’s 
reasoning in Avila (to prevent a perpetual collection process caused by not disclosing to the consumer if 
any immediate additional interest, fees, or charges that may prevent the account’s resolution after 
payment is made).  Based on this, CRC recommends the following model disclosure for those that collect 
the collection costs associated with an account: 

Proposed standard disclosure: The Collection Costs amount stated above, which would be 
applied if full payment were made as of this date, is included in the Payoff Amount.  It reflects 
the addition of collection costs as permitted by [your agreement with the creditor/law]. 

  

                                                           
5 E.g., Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.52; 940 Mass. Code Regs. 7.07; N.Y. Comp. R. & Regs. Tit. 23, § 1.3. 
6 Bernal v. NRA Group, LLC, 318 F.R.D. 64 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 30, 2016). 
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3. Establish a standard, limited-content message 

The FDCPA contains conflicting requirements in that a debt collector must disclose his or her identity to 

a consumer in every communication and that a collector must refrain from communicating about a 

consumer’s debt to a third party. Congress did not anticipate the challenges created by the wording of 

the FDCPA in the context of today’s modern communications.  

For example, current interpretations of the FDCPA provide that leaving a voicemail message, no matter 

how terse, is considered a “communication” under the FDCPA, thus triggering both the mini-Miranda 

debt collector disclosure requirement (which might be heard by, e.g., a roommate) and the third-party 

disclosure prohibition. 

The combination of these outdated rules and the inability to use current communication channels 

threatens to leave this one industry in the last century, while the rest of the world moves ahead. Given 

that an estimated 77 million Americans have a debt in collections, this is an issue that will only cause 

more and more consumer frustration as today’s younger – digital only – consumers age. 

Recommendation: Declare that a limited content message, delivered via any medium other 

than by letter (such as voicemail, email or text), is not a communication subject to the “debt 

collector” disclosure requirements. This message could be used in cases where the right party 

contact information has not yet been confirmed. 

Proposed communication: This is <name of person> seeking to communicate with <name of 

debtor>. This concerns an important matter. Please contact me at <contact information> and 

reference account <account number>. Thank you. 

Note: the proposed communication is approximately 180 characters, which would vary based on the 

length of the name of the caller and the debtor. The message would likely need to be tweaked in order 

to make it usable by text; this would also help to avoid the need to create channel-specific rules. 
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4. Provide for a right to cure errors 

Debt collectors presently have no ability to fix a mistake without threat of class action litigation. Of 

course this is an issue for collectors, but it is also bad for consumers. Consider this example:  

Upon taking on a new creditor client, Collection Agency ABC sends initial notices to a new set of 

debtors. Three days later it is recognized that the letters all had the same mistake; because of a 

technical glitch, a decimal point was misplaced, suggesting that people’s debts were ten-times 

what they really owed. What’s the reasonable thing to do? Fix it; Send another letter explaining 

the mistake and correcting the amount. However, because collectors have no “right to cure” 

they are immediately subject to civil liability. That correction letter in effect invites a class action 

lawsuit. 

The purpose of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by 

debt collectors to ensure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection 

practices are not competitively disadvantaged…” However, debt collectors who refrain from using 

abusive debt collection practices are indeed being competitively disadvantaged because of an excessive 

amount of frivolous litigation fueled by plaintiff attorneys looking to take advantage of the fee shifting 

provision within 15 USC 1692k(a)(3). The statutory damage award available to an individual consumer is 

up to $1,000, while consumer attorneys are often awarded many times that amount. This can result in a 

curable mistake costing a collection agency a significant amount of money, only a very small percent of 

which goes to the actual consumer who has been impacted by the mistake.  

Similar to your concerns regarding the power wielded by the CFPB being used to harm consumers, 

destroy businesses, or arbitrarily remake American financial markets, collection agencies are concerned 

about consumer attorneys’ use of the power afforded by fee-shifting to destroy businesses, reduce 

consumer benefits, and in extreme cases, cause consumer harm.   

As such, the CRC proposes the CFPB adopt a federal solution that mirrors one at the state level.  

California – a notoriously liberal, consumer friendly state -- has a “right to cure” provision giving debt 

collectors a period of time to fix an error with the consumer before being susceptible to civil liability. 

California law provides that a debt collector shall have no liability under the Rosenthal Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (“RFDCPA”), Title 1.6C of the Civil Code, if, “within 15 days either after 

discovering a violation which is able to be cured, or after the receipt of a written notice of such violation, 

the debt collector notifies the debtor of the violation, and makes whatever adjustments or corrections 

are necessary to cure the violation with respect to the debtor.” See California Civil Code § 1788.30(d).  

Such a provision would be mutually beneficial to both the consumer and the debt collector. The 

consumer gets “made whole” and the business gets an opportunity to remedy a violation, instead of 

being served with a lawsuit subjecting it to a statute with no maximum recoveries for attorney fees. 

Debt collection is the only business in the United States in which a company is severely penalized for 

self-identifying and correcting unintentional errors. Action is needed now to protect consumers and 

legitimate businesses.  

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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Proposed Rule: A debt collector shall have no civil liability under this title if, within 30 days 

after discovering a violation, or after receipt of notice of an alleged violation and the factual 

basis for the violation, by certified mail, return receipt requested, the debt collector makes 

whatever adjustments or corrections are necessary to cure the violation with respect to the 

debtor.  

This language is modeled after the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collections Practice Act, California’s consumer 

protection statute. The RFDCPA is very similar to the FDCPA, but the right to cure provision is an 

important and impactful difference between the state and federal consumer protection statutes. 
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5. Provide clarification related to pre-default definition and when the FDCPA applies  

The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) was intended to apply to third-party debt collectors who 

are collecting defaulted debt. However, since the Act’s enactment in 1977 an exponential demand arose 

for businesses to provide “pre-default” account servicing for lenders and creditors who wish to 

outsource their accounts receivable management operations and focus on their core business. This is 

also known as “first party” business process outsourcing (BPO). 

Entities that provide first party services are better equipped to handle large volumes of accounts or 

calls, and their operating structure allows them to be a complete extension of their client; they operate 

under the creditor’s name, branding, site environment and training. These entities typically work on the 

creditor’s system, which allows for real time updates, more efficient customer support, and less 

confusion for all involved.  

Under the FDCPA, the definition of a “debt collector” primarily includes “any person who uses any 

instrumentality of interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the 

collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed 

or due or asserted to be owed or due another.”  

Two important exemptions under the FDCPA were intended to draw a line between a traditional debt 

collector and one providing “first party” BPO services to lenders and creditors: 

 Any person collecting or attempting to collect any debt owed or due or asserted to be owed or 

due another to the extent such activity concerns a debt which was not in default at the time it 

was obtained by such person. 

 An entity is not a debt collector if it, while, in the name of the creditor, collects debts for such 

creditor under the creditor’s supervision. 

However very little clarity exists regarding these definitions.  In 2000 and 2002, the Federal Trade 
Commission issued two opinion letters in response to questions about first party servicing from Richard 
deMayo; these have become known in the industry as “The deMayo letters.” Primarily, they attempt to 
define: 

1. When an account goes into default 
2. When a collection agency’s employees become the creditor’s de facto employees 

In the discussion on when an account goes into “default,” the FTC states: 

“We believe that, in the absence of a contractual definition or conclusive state or federal law, a 
creditor’s reasonable, written guidelines may be used to determine when an account is “in 
default. [But,] we would not consider a set of guidelines reasonable if, under those guidelines, 
the same account were deemed in default for one purpose, such as determining whether the 
creditor may accelerate the loan, but not in default for purposes of determining whether a third-
party collector is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA”. 

In the discussion on de facto employees the letter defines when a collection agency employee would be 
considered a de facto employee of the creditor: 

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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“…….collection agency employees who are treated essentially the same as creditor employees. 
The more that agency employees are treated like creditor employees, the more likely it is that we 
would deem them de facto employees. Whether agency employees — working on the creditor’s 
premises or on the agency’s premises — are treated enough like creditor employees to 
become de facto employees of the creditor will depend on the degree of control and supervision 
exercised by the creditor over the agency employees’ collection activity, and how similar that 
control and supervision is to that exercised by the creditor over its own employees. Relevant 
facts will include, for example, whether the creditor directly supervises and monitors the 
collection activities of the agency employees and, if so, how that supervision and monitoring is 
carried out; whether the creditor trains the agency employees; and whether the agency 
employees are subject to the same rules, procedures, and disciplinary actions that govern the 
collection activities of creditor employees.” 

These two opinion letters remain the only guidance from a regulatory body on HOW a collection agency 
may work in a first party capacity. As a result, this is another area that has generated significant 
litigation from the plaintiffs’ bar. It is critical that lenders and creditors of all sizes have a clear 
understanding of when their outsourced partners can service accounts without being subject to the 
unique disclosure requirements of the FDCPA, while still providing customers with a positive experience.  
Consider this example: 

You are a patient who received a bill. It says it is now overdue, yet you don’t even recognize it. 

You call the number to start investigating and you reach a collection agency that is operating as 

a “first party.” Their job is to help callers like you sort through what you have and figure out 

what is owed, what isn’t, where you may have insurance to cover it, etc. However, because the 

law is not clear, they may be required to first read you the mini-Miranda notice, which goes like 

this: “This is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose.”  

Wait. What? You might think, “Am I being arrested? I am just calling to figure out this bill!” 

Sounds intimidating, doesn’t it? Yet this is what the FDCPA requires collectors to say. 

Proposed Rule: The CRC proposes that the CFPB adopt a regulation clarifying that, under the FDCPA, a 

person is not a debt collector if that person: 

 Services a debt on behalf of the creditor exclusively in the name of the creditor, even if the 

person is not an employee or officer of the creditor, so long as the person is authorized by and 

acting under the supervision of the creditor; or 

 Services a debt that is not in default as defined by state or federal law or the terms of the 

contract creating the indebtedness; in the absence of such definition in contract or law, a 

creditor’s reasonable, written, and consistently applied guidelines may be used to determine 

if a debt is in default. 

 

 

http://www.crconsortium.org/
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6/30/2016 1:16-cv-05201-SM NY Individual Pacificador Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Avila
7/14/2016 6:16-cv-06487-CJS NY Class Douglass Karen Gesund Gesund and Pailet, LLC Avila
4/4/2016 1:16-cv-01630-RRM-SMG NY Class Picerno Ryan Gentile Law Offices of Gus Farinella PC Reverse Avila

4/20/2016 1:16-cv-01951-ENV-PK NY Class Mahfood Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
5/10/2016 1:16-cv-02359-WFK-JO NY Class Etienne Ari Marcus Marcus Zelman LLC Reverse Avila
5/23/2016 1:16-cv-02604-AMD-VMS NY Class Bandman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
5/26/2016 1:16-cv-02686-AMD-SMG NY Class Orzel Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
6/1/2016 1:16-cv-02787-RRM-CLP NY Class Santora Daniel Kohn RC Law Group, PLLC Reverse Avila

6/15/2016 1:16-cv-03133 NY Class Kalmenson Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
6/20/2016 2:16-cv-03305-ADS-AYS NY Individual Bellafatto Lennon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/20/2016 2:16-cv-03303-DRH-AYS NY Individual Nova Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/21/2016 2:16-cv-03344-JMA-AKT NY Individual Alexander Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/21/2016 2:16-cv-03334-JMA-AKT NY Individual Callan Montalvo Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/21/2016 2:16-cv-03338-ADS-AYS NY Individual Duryee Marino Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/21/2016 2:16-cv-03336-JMA-ARL NY Individual Vouvounas Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/22/2016 1:16-cv-03400 NY Class Orzel Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
6/24/2016 1:16-cv-03475-ERK-RLM NY Class Correa Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
6/27/2016 2:16-cv-03535-ADS-SIL NY Individual Ferguson Smith Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/27/2016 2:16-cv-03534-ADS-ARL NY Individual Iadevaio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/29/2016 2:16-cv-03611 NY Class Passiglia Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/30/2016 2:16-cv-03651-SJF-SIL NY Individual Alston Nelson Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/30/2016 2:16-cv-03649-DRH-AKT NY Individual Ochoa Erazo Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/6/2016 2:16-cv-03740-JFB-AKT NY Class Divella, Jr. Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/8/2016 2:16-cv-03824-JMA-SIL NY Individual Barbero Gonzalez Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/8/2016 2:16-cv-03822-ADS-AYS NY Individual Shields Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

7/13/2016 2:16-cv-03876-ADS-AYS NY Class Flynn Joseph Mauro The Law Office of Joseph Mauro LLC Reverse Avila
7/13/2016 2:16-cv-03878-ADS-ARL NY Class Walton Joseph Mauro The Law Office of Joseph Mauro LLC Reverse Avila
7/20/2016 2:16-cv-04026-ADS-AYS NY Class Beyer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/20/2016 2:16-cv-04032-LDW-SIL NY Individual Burgos Dipierro Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/29/2016 2:16-cv-04227 NY Class Covino Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
7/29/2016 2:16-cv-04228-SJF-AKT NY Individual Moreno Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/1/2016 2:16-cv-04275-LDW-AYS NY Individual Baker Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/1/2016 2:16-cv-04273-SJF-ARL NY Individual Holder Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/2/2016 2:16-cv-04296-ADS-AYS NY Individual Bellafonte Pagliuca Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/3/2016 2:16-cv-04337-JMA-SIL NY Individual Bellafonte Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/3/2016 1:16-cv-043242-SJ-CLP NY Class Stein Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
8/9/2016 2:16-cv-04431-ADS-AKT NY Individual Beyer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/9/2016 2:16-cv-04425-LDW-AKT NY Individual Iadevaio Indimine Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/9/2016 2:16-cv-04430-SJF-GRB NY Individual McHenry Miltano-Squicciarini Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

8/11/2016 2:16-cv-04496-SJF-AYS NY Individual Fowles Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/12/2016 2:16-cv-04534-SJF-AYS NY Individual Fucco Fucco Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/16/2016 2:16-cv-04576-LDW-AKT NY Individual Montoya Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/16/2016 1:16-cv-04565-AMD-JO NY Class Muller Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
8/24/2016 2:16-cv-04722-LDW-AYS NY Individual Zevon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
8/30/2016 1:16-cv-04859-MKB-RLM NY Class Wieder Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
8/31/2016 1:16-cv-04877-ERK-ST NY Class Schechter Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
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9/1/2016 2:16-cv-04901-JFB-GRB NY Individual Harley Fraina Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/1/2016 2:16-cv-04900-JFB-AKT NY Individual Roth Goodwin Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/8/2016 2:16-cv-04998-DRH-GRB NY Individual Rivera Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/8/2016 1:16-cv-04997-WFK-JO NY Class Hartman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila

9/12/2016 2:16-cv-05043-JFB-AYS NY Individual Lennon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/12/2016 2:16-cv-05044-DRH-AYS NY Individual McHenry Wolin Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/13/2016 1:16-cv-05079-CBA-RML NY Class Brach David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
9/14/2016 1:16-cv-05106 NY Class Weber Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05146-LDH-SMG NY Class Chein Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05148-LDH-JO NY Class Gendelberg Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05142-SJ-VMS NY Class Freilich Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05147-RRM-PK NY Class Freilich Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05143-ENV-SMG NY Class Moskowitz Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/15/2016 1:16-cv-05145-CBA-VMS NY Class Ross Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/16/2016 1:16-cv-05192-MKB-SMG NY Class Oved Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
9/19/2016 1:16-cv-05223 NY Class Frankel Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
9/20/2016 2:16-cv-05238-ADS-AKT NY Individual Dykes Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/20/2016 2:16-CV-05240-ADS-SIL NY Individual Malhotra Baker Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/21/2016 2:16-cv-05256-JFB-AYS NY Individual Zevon Fedorka Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/21/2016 1:16-cv-05248-KAM-PK NY Class Gonzales Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
9/21/2016 2:16-cv-05257-JMA-SIL NY Individual Zevon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/22/2016 2:16-cv-05287-LDW-AYS NY Individual Lobosco Callan Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/26/2016 1:16-cv-05345-PKC-ST NY Class Ilovits David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
9/26/2016 1:16-cv-05350-LDH-RLM NY Class Haltovsky David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
9/26/2016 1:16-cv-05344-CBA-VMS NY Class Lebovits David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
9/27/2016 1:16-cv-05372-WFK-LB NY Class Weingarten Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
9/29/2016 1:16-cv-05440-RRM-ST NY Class Hess Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
9/29/2016 1:16-cv-05427-LDH-ST NY Class Wegh Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
10/4/2016 2:16-cv-05531-ADS-SIL NY Individual Iadevaio Lazar Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/4/2016 2:16-cv-05517-JMA-GRB NY Individual McAdams Rousso Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/4/2016 2:16-cv-05532-JMA-AYS NY Individual Nardino Vouvounas Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/4/2016 2:16-cv-05533-SJF-GRB NY Individual Piazza Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/4/2016 2:16-cv-05525-JFB-AKT NY Individual Vouvounas Sass Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/5/2016 2:16-cv-05541-SJF-ARL NY Individual Callan Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/5/2016 2:16-cv-05540-ADS-AKT NY Individual Malhotra Ascencio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/5/2016 2:16-cv-05545-JMA-ARL NY Individual O'Donohue Jackson Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

10/5/2016 2:16-cv-05548-ADS-SIL NY Individual Vosefski Conety Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05560-LDW-SIL NY Individual Alesi Flore Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05559-JFB-ARL NY Individual Cancemi Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05563-LDW-ARL NY Individual Dykes Callace Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05558-ADS-SIL NY Individual Harley Saitta Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05565-SJF-AYS NY Individual Isaac Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05562-LDW-AYS NY Individual Marino Deiters Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05573-LDW-SIL NY Individual Mazzara Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05566-LDW-AKT NY Individual Taylor Callace Digirolamo Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
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10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05561-SJF-AYS NY Individual Taylor Erickson Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 2:16-cv-05571-SJF-AKT NY Individual Wanerka Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 1:16-cv-05572 NY Class Bakon Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 1:16-cv-05582-ARR-SMG NY Class Stiel Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 2:16-cv-05624 NY Individual Malhotra Balke Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 2:16-cv-05626 NY Individual Nardino Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 2:16-cv-05622 NY Individual Nelson Eifert Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 2:16-cv-05623 NY Individual Nelson Martinez Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 1:16-cv-05607-ARR-RER NY Class Kleinman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila

10/10/2016 1:16-cv-05646-FB-SMG NY Class Hartman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
10/13/2016 1:16-cv-05726-RRM-SMG NY Class Posen Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
10/13/2016 1:16-cv-05725 NY Class Kleinman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
10/13/2016 1:16-cv-05714 NY Class Muller Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
10/18/2016 2:16-cv-05808-LDW-AYS NY Individual Harley Charleston Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/18/2016 2:16-cv-05803-SJF-AKT NY Individual Iadevaio Tesoreiro Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/18/2016 2:16-cv-05806-DRH-ARL NY Individual Malhotra Yuksel Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/18/2016 2:16-cv-05802-LDW-AKT NY Individual Maloney Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/18/2016 2:16-cv-05809-SJF-AYS NY Class Pisk Balke Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/20/2016 1:16-cv-05860 NY Class Roth Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
10/21/2016 1:16-cv-05873-MKB-PK NY Class Maleh Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
10/30/2016 1:16-cv-06022-DLI-JO NY Class Harel Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
11/1/2016 2:16-cv-06050-LDW-AKT NY Individual O'Donohue Sass Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/1/2016 2:16-cv-06051-SJF-GRB NY Individual Tesoriero Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/2/2016 2:16-cv-06067-LDW-AKT NY Individual Castellanos Rosati Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/2/2016 2:16-cv-06078-ADS-ARL NY Individual Flores Vouvounas Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/2/2016 2:16-cv-06069-DRH-ARL NY Individual Fraina Habel Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06137-ILG-SMG NY Class Bakon Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06143-DLI-VMS NY Class Kuznetsov Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06136 NY Class Schwartz Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06140 NY Class Bukhbinoler Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06138 NY Class Chein Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06141-FB-RLM NY Class Ehrnfeld Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
11/4/2016 1:16-cv-06144 NY Class Henig Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila

11/17/2016 2:16-cv-06388-ADS-AYS NY Individual Callace Florez Norman Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/22/2016 2:16-cv-06515-LDW-ARL NY Individual Malhotra Fischer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
11/22/2016 1:16-cv-06514 NY Class Fekete Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
12/1/2016 2:16-cv-06670-ADS-ARL NY Individual Levinson Balke Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/2/2016 2:16-cv-06695-ADS-AYS NY Individual Gibbons Ramaglia Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/2/2016 2:16-cv-06697-LDW-ARL NY Individual Sidea Callace Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

12/10/2016 2:16-cv-06819-ADS-Arl NY Individual McHenry Frohnhoefer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/12/2016 2:16-cv-06841-JMA-AYS NY Individual Castain Rosati Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/13/2016 2:16-cv-06895-SJF-GRB NY Individual Dykes Hicks Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/13/2016 1:16-cv-06897-WFK-RML NY Class Kuznetsov Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
12/14/2016 1:16-cv-06914 NY Class Sompolinsky Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
12/15/2016 2:16-cv-06917-LDW-AKT NY Individual Polizois Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/15/2016 2:16-cv-06918-LDW-AKT NY Individual Taylor Iadevaio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
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12/16/2016 2:16-cv-06952-DRH-GRB NY Individual Lee Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/21/2016 2:16-cv-07033-SJF-ARL NY Individual Gil Fischer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/21/2016 2:16-cv-07035 NY Individual Messina Fischer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/21/2016 2:16-cv-07032 NY Individual Vega Suzette Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
12/22/2016 1:16-cv-07056 NY Class Iliovits David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
12/22/2016 1:16-cv-07055-FB-JO NY Class Klein David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
12/29/2016 2:16-cv-07167-JS-SIL NY Individual Iadevaio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

1/5/2017 1:17-cv-00065 NY Class Schlesinger David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
1/9/2017 1:17-cv-00111-WFK-CLP NY Class Diaz Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila

1/10/2017 1:17-cv-00136 NY Class Kleinman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
1/14/2017 1:17-cv-00222 NY Class Gavrialov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/14/2017 1:17-cv-00224 NY Class Gavrielova Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00287-LDW-AKT NY Class Callan Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00288-SJF-AYS NY Class Cancemi Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00282-JS-AKT NY Individual Castro Broski Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00285-LDW-SIL NY Individual Flores Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00284-JFB-ARL NY Individual Hertzovitz Vaughn Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/18/2017 2:17-cv-00286-JFB-SIL NY Class Huntley Biggs Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/20/2017 2:17-cv-00340-JFB-ARL NY Class Biggs Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/20/2017 2:17-cv-00342-DRH-SIL NY Individual Tammaro Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/20/2017 1:17-cv-00349-FB-ST NY Class Yakubov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/22/2017 1:17-cv-00352 NY Class Khaimov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/23/2017 1:17-cv-00361-PKC-SMG NY Class Mohiuddin Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
1/25/2017 2:17-cv-00412-LDW-SIL NY Individual Tesoriero Mangogna Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/25/2017 2:17-cv-00413-LDW-AKT NY Individual Fowles Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/26/2017 2:17-cv-00446-ADS-AKT NY Individual Ortiz Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/30/2017 1:17-cv-00535-ENV-PK NY Class Khaimov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/30/2017 1:17-cv-00533-BMC NY Class Miller Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
1/30/2017 1:17-cv-00511-ARR-RER NY Class Lynch Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
1/31/2017 2:17-cv-00542-DRH-AKT NY Individual Colon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/31/2017 2:17-cv-00541-LDW-AKT NY Class Taylor Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/31/2017 2:17-cv-00562-SJF-AYS NY Individual Colon Yuksel Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 2:17-cv-00587-LDW-AYS NY Individual Riesel-Montalbano Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 2:17-cv-00588-LDW-ARL NY Individual Tammaro Fischer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 1:17-cv-00589-KAM-RML NY Class Twersky David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 1:17-cv-00584-ARR-RER NY Class Gross David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 1:17-cv-00581-ARR-CLP NY Class Gross David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/1/2017 1:17-cv-00572-AMD-RML NY Class Ezra Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
2/2/2017 1:17-cv-00612-DLI-VMS NY Class Yakubov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/3/2017 2:17-cv-00649-SJF-SIL NY Individual Martinez Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/3/2017 2:17-cv-00647-LDW-SIL NY Individual McAdams Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/3/2017 2:17-cv-00650-JMA-ARL NY Individual Taylor Divirgilio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/3/2017 1:17-cv-00654-PKC-RLM NY Class Mustafaev Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/6/2017 1:17-cv-00679-PKC-SMG NY Class Miller Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/7/2017 1:17-cv-00712-BMV NY Class Gavrialov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/8/2017 2:17-cv-00732-LDW-SIL NY Individual Desmond Sass Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
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2/8/2017 2:17-cv-00736-DRH-AYS NY Individual Huntley Dykes Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/8/2017 1:17-cv-00743-MKB-SMG NY Class Frankel Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila

2/10/2017 2:17-cv-00756-ADS-AKT NY Individual Dykes Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/10/2017 1:17-cv-00783-ILG-CLP NY Class Khaimov Miller Nayberg Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/14/2017 2:17-cv-00819-SJF-AYS NY Individual Eger Vanpelt Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/14/2017 2:17-cv-00821-ADS-AKT NY Individual O'Donohue Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/14/2017 1:17-cv-00815-FB-VMS NY Class Lebovits David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/16/2017 2:16-cv-00870-LDW-GRB NY Individual Hoffman Bartalini Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/16/2017 2:17-cv-00868-JS-AKT NY Individual Roth Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/17/2017 2:17-cv-00927-SJF-SIL NY Individual Castain Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/17/2017 1:17-cv-00909-LDH-VMS NY Class Nayberg Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/19/2017 2:17-cv-00945-ADS-ARL NY Individual Dorante Daniel Kohn RC Law Group PLLC Reverse Avila
2/20/2017 1:17-cv-00953-DLI-RLM NY Class Jsilberberg Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
2/21/2017 2:17-cv-00977-ADS-SIL NY Individual Libby Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/21/2017 1:17-cv-00981-ARR-RML NY Class Leifer Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
2/22/2017 2:17-cv-00990-LDW-ARL NY Individual Plattner Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/22/2017 2:17-cv-00993-ADS-ARL NY Class Thompkins Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/22/2017 1:17-cv-01010-ILG-CLP NY Class Fuzaylov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/22/2017 1:17-cv-01007-SJ-JO NY Class Ashkenazi David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/22/2017 1:17-cv-01006-ARR-CLP NY Class Twersky David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
2/23/2017 1:17-cv-01017-MKB-JO NY Class Meola Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
2/23/2017 1:17-cv-01014-ARR-CLP NY Class Romano Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
2/24/2017 2:17-cv-01041-LDW-AYS NY Individual Carlo Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/24/2017 1:17-cv-01065-BMC NY Class Richardson Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
2/24/2017 1:17-cv-01051-BMC NY Class Richardson Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
2/25/2017 1:17-cv-01085-WFK-JO NY Class Fuzaylov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/26/2017 1:17-cv-01087-BMC NY Class Fuzaylov Khaimov Moscowitz Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
2/28/2017 1:17-cv-01116-PKC-PK NY Class Bakon Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
2/28/2017 1:17-cv-01115-AMD-ST NY Class Ehrnfeld Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
2/28/2017 1:17-cv-01131-ERK-SMG NY Class Kohn David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
3/1/2017 2:17-cv-01175-JFB-GRB NY Individual Balke Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/1/2017 2:17-cv-01178-SJF-ARL NY Individual Callan Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/1/2017 2:17-cv-01174-DRH-AYS NY Individual Dykes Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/1/2017 2:17-cv-01177-JFB-GRB NY Individual Mosca Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/1/2017 1:17-cv-01154-FB-VMS NY Class Franco Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
3/2/2017 2:17-cv-01210-SJF-GRB NY Individual Frohnhoefer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/2/2017 2:17-cv-01206-SJF-AKT NY Individual Howe Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/2/2017 2:17-cv-01208-JFB-AKT NY Individual Kidd Lemoine Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/2/2017 1:17-cv-01204-KAM-RML NY Class Bandman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
3/6/2017 2:17-cv-01249-JMA-GRB NY Individual Howe Pampena Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/7/2017 2:17-cv-01301-SJF-GRB NY Individual Huntley Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/7/2017 1:17-cv-01289-MKB-PK NY Class Lynch Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/9/2017 2:17-cv-01346-JS-ARL NY Individual Dykes Roth Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/9/2017 2:17-cv-01345-ADS-ARL NY Individual Vouvounas Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

3/10/2017 1:17-cv-01365-BMV NY Class Dekhkanov Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/10/2017 1:17-cv-01354-DLI-RML NY Class Brown Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
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3/10/2017 1:17-cv-01356-ILG-ST NY Class Richardson Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
3/11/2017 1:17-cv-01370-ARR-PK NY Class Lewis Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/13/2017 2:17-cv-01399-SJF-AYS NY Individual Howe Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/13/2017 2:17-cv-01404-LDW-AKT NY Individual Messina Dykes Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/13/2017 2:17-cv-01385-ADS-SIL NY Class Taylor Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/14/2017 1:17-cv-01429-RRM-JO NY Class Joseph Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/14/2017 1:17-cv-01427-ENV-RLM NY Class Lewis Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/15/2017 1:17-cv-01444-ERK-RML NY Class Allahab Ibrahim Abohamra Sirotkin Varacalli & Hamra LLP Reverse Avila
3/15/2017 1:17-cv-01458-ILG-SMG NY Class Blanga Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
3/15/2017 1:17-cv-01459-RRM-RLM NY Class Blanga Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
3/16/2017 1:17-cv-01494-ARR-VMS NY Class Baptiste Ryan Gentile Law Offices of Gus Farinella PC Reverse Avila
3/17/2017 1:17-cv-01498-PKC-CLP NY Class Ehrnfeld Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
3/19/2017 1:17-cv-01534-RJD-VMS NY Class Estevez Gavrielova Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/19/2017 1:17-cv-01535-PKC-PK NY Class Joseph Haimoff Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/20/2017 2:17-cv-01564-JS-SIL NY Class Lobosco Hoffman Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/21/2017 1:17-cv-01595-ENV-RLM NY Class Estevez Benchocron Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/21/2017 1:17-cv-01594-KAM-RLM NY Class Estevez Nayberg Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/27/2017 1:17-cv-01703-ARR-LB NY Class Fekete Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
3/28/2017 1:17-cv-01736-ARR-CLP NY Class Gashilova Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/28/2017 1:17-cv-01737-FM-JO NY Class Gyokchyan Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/28/2017 1:17-cv-01721-PKC-ST NY Class Urena Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/29/2017 1:17-cv-01759-AMD-VMS NY Class Avezbadalov Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/30/2017 1:17-cv-01795-MKB-PK NY Individual Polak Daniel Kohn RC Law Group PLLC Reverse Avila
3/30/2017 1:17-cv-01799-FB-JO NY Class Fekete Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
3/30/2017 1:17-cv-01800-AMD-CLP NY Class Reich Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
3/31/2017 2:17-cv-01842-LDW-GRB NY Individual Castain Ortiz Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/31/2017 2:17-cv-01838-LDW-AKT NY Individual Fleming Mazzara Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/31/2017 2:17-cv-01840-JFB-AKT NY Individual Mazzara Erickson Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/31/2017 2:17-cv-01841-SJF-ARL NY Individual Mazzara Ortiz Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
3/31/2017 1:17-cv-01822-BMC NY Class Knowles Alan Sasson Law Office of Alan Sasson, PC Reverse Avila
4/1/2017 1:17-cv-01849-RRM-RER NY Class Ceban Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
4/3/2017 2:17-cv-01887-LDW-ARL NY Class Huntley Charleston Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/3/2017 2:17-cv-01889-ADS-SIL NY Individual Malhotra Dwyer Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/3/2017 2:17-cv-01888-ADS-AKT NY Class Taylor Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 2:17-cv-01913-JFB-AYS NY Class Calafiore Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 2:17-cv-01916-LDW-SIL NY Class Martinez Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-01933-RRM-RLM NY Class Bandman David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-01935-PKC-ST NY Class Askal Adam Fishbein Adam Fishbein, PC Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-01930-ARR-PK NY Class Benedek David Palace Law Offices of David Palace Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-01928-KAM-RML NY Class Karimov Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-01931-RRM-CLP NY Class Karimov Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 2:17-cv-01977-LDW-GRB NY Class Braunskill Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 2:17-cv-01976-SJF-ARL NY Individual Callan Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 1:17-cv-01965-DLI-RML NY Class Daskal Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 1:17-cv-01984-LDH-CLP NY Class Gavrielova Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 1:17-cv-01954-RRM-JO NY Class Kalmenson Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
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4/5/2017 1:17-cv-01959-RJD-VMS NY Class Stern Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
4/5/2017 1:17-cv-01964-WFK-VMS NY Class Stern Maxim Maximov Maxim Maximov, LLP Reverse Avila
4/6/2017 2:17-cv-02021-LDW-AKT NY Class Andres Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/6/2017 2:17-cv-02019-LDW-AKT NY Class Calandra Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/6/2017 2:17-cv-02025-JFB-SIL NY Class Colon Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/6/2017 2:17-cv-02029-JMA-AYS NY Individual Martinez Divirgilio Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/6/2017 2:17-cv-02028-SJF-SIL NY Class Witt Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/7/2017 2:17-cv-02136-DRH-SIL NY Individual Andres Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/7/2017 2:17-cv-02138-JFB-AYS NY Class Bruno Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
4/7/2017 2:17-cv-02139-SJF-AKT NY Individual Colon Cruz Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

10/6/2016 1:16-cv-01213-TJM-TWD NY Individual Azzara Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
6/20/2016 1:16-cv-04685-LGS NY Individual Taylor Klein Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
9/30/2016 1:16-cv-07676-RWS NY Class Barnett Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
10/6/2016 7:16-cv-07813-KMK NY Individual Collins Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila

10/18/2016 1:16-cv-08126-RA NY Individual Donnelly Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/27/2016 1:16-cv-08363-AHK NY Class Alvarez Abraham Hamra Sirotkin Varacalli & Hamra LLP Reverse Avila
12/2/2016 7:16-09332 NY Individual Miglionico Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
1/3/2017 1:17-cv-00024 NY Class Sosa Abraham Hamra Sirotkin Varacalli & Hamra LLP Reverse Avila

1/17/2017 7:17-cv-00330-NSR NY Class Thomas Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
2/8/2017 1:17-cv-00927-GHW NY Class Davis Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
3/7/2017 1:17-cv-01698-RJS NY Class Baker Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/8/2017 1:17-cv-01723-GBD NY Class Baker Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/8/2017 1:17-cv-01731-PGG NY Class Baker Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/8/2017 1:17-cv-01749-RA NY Class Baker Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila

3/13/2017 1:17-cv-01833-LGS NY Class Rodriguez Abraham Hamra Sirotkin Varacalli & Hamra LLP Reverse Avila
3/13/2017 1:17-cv-01834-VEC NY Class Rodriguez Abraham Hamra Sirotkin Varacalli & Hamra LLP Reverse Avila
3/23/2017 1:17-cv-02132-JMF NY Class Hines Igor Litvak The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC Reverse Avila
3/28/2017 7:17-cv-02253-CS NY Individual Maltsev Daniel Kohn RC Law Group PLLC Reverse Avila
3/28/2017 7:17-cv-02235-KMK NY Class Jones Dan Shaked Shaked Law Group PC Reverse Avila
3/29/2017 1:17-cv-02296-JPO NY Class Sparrow Daniel Cohen Daniel Cohen, PLLC Reverse Avila
4/9/2016 6:16-cv-06240 NY Class Lundgren Alexander Douglas Gesund and Pailet, LLC Reverse Avila

10/5/2016 1:16-cv-00798-LJV NY Individual Malhotra Sasloff Craig Sanders Barshay Sanders Reverse Avila
10/7/2016 6:16-cv-06664 NY Class Ziefel Alexander Douglas Gesund and Pailet, LLC Reverse Avila
2/10/2017 1:17-cv-00127-WMS NY Individual Hartman Russell Thompson Thompson Consumer Law Group PLLC Reverse Avila
4/4/2017 1:17-cv-00291-LJV NY Individual Brooks Daniel Kohn RC Law Group PLLC Reverse Avila




